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Corporate Profile

Gulf Canada Limited is an integrated energy company operating
throughout Canada. Its organization consists primarily of a
management company, an upstream resource subsidiary, and a
downstream products division. Founded in 1906 as The

British American Qil Company, Limited, Gulf Canada Limited
continues to play a major role in the growth and development
of Canada’s energy industry. From an initial investment of
$135,000, it now has assets of $5.6 billion, approximately
34,000 shareholders and 9,000 employees. Chevron Corporation,
San Francisco, California, beneficially owns 60.2 per cent of the
Corporation’s common shares.

Gulf Canada Limited, Toronto, Ontario

The management company provides corporate strategic
direction, basic policies, performance objectives, financial control
and measurement criteria for the Gulf Canada companies. It
handles the Controller, Corporate Planning and Development,
Corporate Secretary, Internal Audit, Law, and Treasury
functions; and provides corporate co-ordination of Human
Resources, Information Services, Public Affairs, Realty and
Research and Development.

Gulf Canada Resources Inc., Calgary, Alberta

The “upstream” subsidiary conducts a wide range of exploration
and production activities. One of Canada's leading producers of
crude oil, natural gas and gas liquids, the company operates
five major gas processing plants; has interests in 40 other gas
plants; is a participant in the Syncrude oil sands project: and is
involved in coal exploration. An outstanding land position in
Western Canada and the frontiers provides the basis for aggres-
sive petroleum and natural gas exploration programs. A wholly-
owned subsidiary, BeauDril Limited, operates the new-technology
Beaufort Sea Drilling System.

Gulf Canada Products Company, Toronto, Ontario

The “downstream” products division refines, distributes and
markets a wide range of petroleum and petrochemical products
across Canada. These products include transportation fuels
such as motor gasolines, diesel oil and aviation fuels; heating fuels
for industrial, commercial and residential use; and non-fuel
petroleum products such as lubricants, solvents, asphalt, waxes
and petrochemicals. The company accounts for about 15 per cent
of both Canada'’s refining capacity and refined product sales. It
operates wholly-owned subsidiaries Gulf Canada Refinery Lid.,
Servico Limited and Superior Propane Ltd.; and has interests in
several of Canada’s principal crude oil and refined product
pipelines.



Building Corporate Value

“Gulf Canada’s long-range corporate objective
continues to be — as it has been for many

years — to maximize the growth of shareholders’
equity and corporate worth.

“The basic strategy behind our corporate
performance in recent years, and the key to
much greater future potential, is the success we
have had in building an outstanding resource
base in Western Canada and in the most promising
frontier areas.”

“Exploratory successes in the western pro-
vinces have slowed the decline in our proved
conventional oil reserves, while participation
in almost every major frontier oil discovery has
been largely responsible for an increase of
more than 50 per cent in our established reserves
since 1979, a record few North American oil
companies can match.”

“Gulf Canada, with a 25 per cent share of
Hibernia and varying interests in most other
significant frontier oil discoveries, as well as excel-
lent oil, gas, oil sands and coal lands in Western
Canada, is prepared to participate to the fullest
extent in building Canada’s energy future . ..and the

value of your company.”
From Senior Executive Report, page 2

Nothing is more symbolic of organization,
industry and productivity than a beehive.
Throughout this report, a three-cell honey-
comb design is used to highlight special
efforts being made by the three Gulf Canada
companies to build Corporate value.
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Gulf Canada Resources' conical
drilling unit Kulluk, tests Amauligak
J-44, the most promising discovery
made by GCRI in the Beaufort Sea.
The main oil zone is estimated to
be capable of producing 2,160
cubic metres (13,600 barrels) a day.
Delineation drilling on the structure
will be carried out in 1985 and 1986.
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Report to
Shareholders
and
Employees

We are pleased to report that
the attainment, in 1984, of
Corporate targets resulted in
a VEery encourt flglng 41 per
cent earnings improvement.
Net profits rose by $90
million to $308 million, as
refined product earnings
recovered from essentially
break-even in 1983, to $95
million, and resource earn-
ings of $251 million were $9
million above the previous
record set in 1983.

Our new majority share-
holder, Chevron Corporation,
has announced that it will
try, until April 30, 1985, to
sell its interest in Gulf
Canada to a Canadian com-
pany. During these uncertain
times, we are particularly
proud of the dedication of
our 9,000 employees, who
have enabled Gulf Canada to
continue as an industry leader
In many areas.

Elected to the Board of
Directors in June was Keith
McWalter, who became
Executive Vice-President in
September. R.T. Savage and
L.C. Soileau I1I joined the
Board in October as rep-
resentatives of Chevron
Corporation. In February
1985, the Board designated
Mr. McWalter to become
President and Chief Execu-
tive Officer on April 1, 1985,
following normal retirement
of the incumbent.

Gulf Canada'’s long-range
corporate objective continues
to be — as it has been for
many years — to maximize
the growth of shareholders’
equity and corporate worth.

The basic strategy behind
our corporate performance in
recent years, and the key to
much greater future potential,
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J.L. Stoik, President and Chief Executive Officer; J.C. Phillips, Chairman of the Board.

is the success we have had
in building an outstanding
resource base in Western
Canada and in the most
promising frontier areas.
The past year was notable
for significant exploration
successes both offshore and
onshore, and for the first
full year’s operation of the
Corporation’s state-of-the-art
Beaufort Sea Drilling system,
which fully met our high
expectations for its perform-
ance. In establishing an
extended operating season
for a floating rig, the conical
drilling unit Kulluk com-
pleted and tested two oil
discoveries and partially
drilled two other locations.
Amauligak J-44, our best o0il
discovery to date in the
Beaufort Sea, is ideally suited
for early development of
production, if sufficient
reserves are established. The
mobile arctic caisson, which
drilled the Tarsiut P-45 well
as its first assignment, will
delineate the Amauligak
structure next season,
drilling two or more wells.

Exploratory successes in
the western provinces have
slowed the decline in our
proved conventional oil
reserves, while participation
in almost every major frontier
ail discovery has been largely
responsible for an increase of
more than 50 per cent in our
established reserves since
1979, a record few North
American oil companies can
match. The objective is to
maintain our total Western
Canada production of liquid
hydrocarbons until we can
begin to tap our frontier
reserves around the end of
this decade.

Again in 1984, Gulf Canada
was one of the most active
drillers and acquirers of
exploratory land in the
western provinces. Expendi-
tures to develop production
from new fields, and to
enhance the recovery of
reserves from existing fields,
comprise the fastest-growing
component of the more than
$700 million budgeted for
1985 capital and exploration
spending.



For many years, Gulf
Canada has also been acquir-
ing and evaluating coal
properties in British Columbia
and Alberta as a basis for
future diversification. One of
these is Canada's only known
potentially-commercial
deposit of anthracite coal, at
Mount Klappan in north-
western B.C. Close to the
surface and near the coast,
this high-quality, world-scale
deposit could be developed
quickly when long-term
overseas customers are
found.

One diversification already
in operation is The Tensar
Corporation, in which Gulf
Canada has a half-interest.
In mid-1984, the first North
American plant, near Atlanta,
Georgia, began turning out
high-strength polymer grids
for a wide variety of civil
engineering and other ap-
plications.

Innovative measures imp-
lemented by Gulf Canada
Products Company have sig-
nificantly increased refining,
distribution and sales effici-
ency, and helped bring indus-
try refining capacity more in
line with declining demand.

In Eastern Canada, the
manufacture of fuels was
concentrated at Montreal
East Refinery, with Clarkson
Refinery being converted to
specialize in the manufacture
of lubricants. Lighter hydro-
carbons from Clarkson are
moved by pipeline to the
Montreal complex, which is
being upgraded to improve
light oil yields.

Utilization of both the
Montreal and Edmonton re-
fineries was increased signifi-
cantly by long-term process-

ing arrangements with
another company, commenc-
ing in the second half of 1984.

After three years of un-
usually high capital spending,
required to complete our
Beaufort Sea Drilling System,
the Hanlan-Robb gas plant,
and the synthetic crude oil
processing expansion at
Edmonton Refinery, capital
and exploration spending
returned to a more normal
level in 1984.

External events in 1985 that
could have a significant bene-
ficial effect on the Canadian
oil industry and the fortunes
of Gulf Canada include:

1. A new federal-provin-
cial revenue-sharing agree-
ment between the producing
provinces and Ottawa, to
be announced in the spring.

This agreement is expected
to include provisions for de-
control of oil prices and some
reduction of both provincial
royalties and federal taxation.
With world oil prices weak,
there could scarcely be a more
politically-acceptable time
for decontrolling the price of
oil. Canada’s oil and gas
should sell for what they
are worth in a free market,
with producers receiving fair
reward for their efforts.

2. The Federal budget, ex-
pected around the end of April.

This budget will reveal the
extent to which the new
Government in Ottawa is
committed to seeing our
industry become a prime
mover for economic recovery.
Companies must be permitted
to have the increased cash
flows needed to fund future
energy mega-projects in both
Western Canada and the
frontiers.

3. Decisions regarding a
production system and an
appropriate fiscal regime for
development of the Hibernia
field.

Newfoundland and Ottawa
have reached basic agree-
ment on revenue-sharing and
management of the offshore
resource. The next requisites
are for selection of the most
cost-effective production
system, and establishment
of a fiscal regime that will
enable the industry partici-
pants to make the massive
investments needed for the
offshore production and
transportation facilities.

Gulf Canada, with a 25
per cent share of Hibernia
and varying interests in most
other significant frontier oil
discoveries, as well as ex-
cellent oil, gas, oil sands and
coal lands in Western Canada,
is prepared to participate to
the fullest extent in building
Canada’s energy future . . .
and the value of your
company.

On behalf of the Board

J.C. Phillips,
Chairman of the Board

JL: Stoik,
President and
Chief Executive Officer

Toronto, Ontario.
March 21, 1985




Financial
and
Operating
Highlights

FINANCIAL (millions of dollars) 1984 1983 % Change
Net revenues 5,422 5,163 5
Net earnings 308 218 41
Return on shareholders’ equity 12.6% 9.5% 33
Return on capital employed 9.0% 7.0% 29
Per share data (dollars per share)
Net earnings 1.35 96 41
Dividends declared .50 44 14
Price/earnings ratio 11 18 (39)
Market value of common shares
Toronto Stock Exchange
-CI.DS(“ [(JU“(”'SJ 1554;{ 174'" {12]
-Shares traded (millions) 23.2 22.8 2
Net Earnings Capital Employed Rates of Return
Millions of dollars Millions of dollars Percentages
Retained in Business =) Property, Plant and Equipment ~ EEE On Capital Employed Ex
Dividends to Shareholders [ Working Capital = On Shareholders' Equity E=
Other B
450 4500 27
400 4000 24
350 3500 21
300 3000 18
250 2500 15
200 2000 12
150 1500 -
100 1000 6
50 500 3
0 0 0
1980 81 82 83 84 1980 81 82 83 84 1880 Fa1r= g2 S g3 aA
OPERATING [thousands of cubic metres per day) 1984 1983 % Change
Gross production
-Crude oil and natural gas liquids 19.0 18.8 1
-Natural gas produced and sold
(millions of cubic metres per day) 8.8 7.4 19
Crude oil processed by the Corporation 35.7 33.2 3
Refined product sales 30.0 31.8 (6)
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Gulf
Canada
Limited

Financial Review

EARNINGS

Increased exports of crude oil,
improved demand for natural
gas and a reduction in the
industry’s surplus refining
capacity were the major
factors responsible for rais-
ing 1984 net earnings by 41
per cent to $308 million, or
$1.35 per share, from 1983
earnings of $218 million,

or 96 cents per share. By
comparison, 1982 earnings
were $201 million, or 88 cents
per share. The return on
average capital employed
was 9.0 per cent in 1984,
compared with 7.0 per cent in
both 1983 and 1982.

The 1984 results include
net charges of $13 million
related to the write-down of
a coal property and sale or
closure of surplus down-
stream assets. This compares
with charges of $22 millionin
1983 on sales, closures or
modifications of selected
downstream facilities. Earn-
ings reported for 1982 in-
cluded net gains of approx-
imately $75 million from the
sale of various facilities and
investments, and a provision
for the closure of certain re-
fining facilities in 1983.

Natural resource earnings
rose to $251 million from
$242 million in 1983, and
from $143 million in 1982.

The main reasons for the
1984 increase over 1983 were
higher production volumes
and prices for crude oil and
natural gas, and an improved
contribution from the Beau-
fort Sea Drilling System,
which had two rigs operating
in 1984. Substantially off-
setting these favorable items
were higher depreciation,
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depletion and amortization,
increased Petroleum and Gas
Revenue Taxes, increased
operating expenses, and a
higher effective income tax
rate due to the exhaustion, in
1983, of depletion allowances
earned in previous years. In
addition, operating profits
from Syncrude declined

due to a major fire in August
which affected production.

Similar positive and
negative factors accounted
for the $108 million rise in
1984 resource earnings over
1982 results, although the
earlier year included capital
gains from the sale of assets.
Exploration expenses charged
to earnings remained rela-
tively constant over the three
years, at approximately $200
million per year.

Net production of crude oil
and natural gas liquids,
including synthetic crude oil,
rose in 1984 by 2.2 per cent to
14,380 cubic metres (90,450
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barrels) per day, after an
increase of 7.5 per cent in
1983. Although production
from Syncrude was down
from 1983, conventional
production increased, mainly
as a result of the Federal
Government’s relaxation of
restrictions on light crude oil
exports, which essentially
restored conventional crude
oil production to capacity
after the first half of 1983.
Net natural gas produced
and sold rose significantly in
1984, to 6.8 million cubic
metres (238 million cubic feet)
per day, following a slight
decrease in 1983. The 1984
increase was mainly the
result of higher domestic
demand. By year-end, export
demand was improving in
response to changes in
government pricing policies.
Downstream earnings of
$95 million were greatly
improved from the break-
even performance of 1983,
and were also ahead of 1982
earnings of $78 million. The
1984 increase over 1983 was
due mainly to improved
petroleum product margins,
higher refinery utilization,
and inventory holding gains
related to an increase in the
Federal Government's Petro-
leum Compensation Charge
in November. The 1983
results were adversely
impacted by a $22 million
write-off related to asset
sales and refinery closures
and modifications.
Compared to 1982, the 1984
increase was mainly due to
improved margins and lower
selling, distribution and
administrative expenses,
reflecting efficiency measures
implemented during the past



two years. In addition, 1982
earnings included net gains of
approximately $50 million on
the sale or closure of various
facilities.

Total refined product sales
in 1984 averaged 30,000 cubic
metres (188,700 barrels) per
day, down 5.7 per cent from
1983 which, in turn, was up
slightly from 1982. Crude oil
processed through the Cor-
poration’s refineries, which
declined slightly in 1983, rose
by 7.5 per cent in 1984, to
35,700 cubic metres (224,500
barrels) per day, reflecting
processing for other com-
panies under long-term
agreements.

Petrochemical sales of 630
tonnes (620 long tons) per
day were down about seven
per cent from those of the
prior two years. With the
1984 sale of Gulf Canada's
interest in the Pétromont
consortium and related
assets, chemicals now
represent only a minor part of
the business and are reported
with refined products in a
downstream segment.

Corporate operating
earnings, consisting mainly
of income on short-term
investments, were $52
million in 1984, compared
with $44 million and $93
million in 1983 and 1982,
respectively. The lower
income in the last two years
was mainly the result of
declining interest rates.

Segmented financial
results appear on pages 32
and 33.

Variances between ac-
counting principles generally
accepted in Canada and the
United States, as they apply
to the Corporation, are

described in note 18 to the
consolidated financial state-
ments on page 38.

LIQUIDITY, CAPITAL
RESOURCES AND
EXPENDITURES

In 1984, earnings before non-
cash items and exploration
expenses were $812 million,
up $83 million from 1983,
and $228 million higher than
in 1982.

Non-cash working capital
requirements declined $174
million in 1984, following a
reduction of $111 million in
1983. The reduction in 1984
was more than accounted for
by a large increase in income
taxes payable, most of which
were remitted by the end of
February 1985. Accounts
payable and other current
liabilities also increased.

Partially offsetting these
items were increased invest-
ment in inventories, due to
higher volumes and crude oil

prices, and higher accounts
receivable.

The 1983 decrease was
mainly due to lower inven-
tory volumes, which more
than offset increased crude
oil prices and higher
accounts receivable.

Total capital investment
in 1984 declined 19 per cent
to $603 million, following a
decline of 15 per cent in 1983,
reflecting the completion of
several major projects.

Cash from operations in
1984 and 1983 was more than
sufficient to meet capital and
exploration expenditures and
dividend payments.

At year-end, Gulf Canada
held cash and short-term
investments of $861 million,
compared to $612 million
at the end of 1983.

The Corporation antici-
pates that total 1985
spending will exceed $700
million, which will be funded

from internal sources.

Earnings Before Non-Cash Items
and Exploration Expense
Millions of dollars

Total Investment
Millions of dollars




Other Highlights

During 1984, all collective
bargaining agreements at the
Corporation's refineries, gas
plants and distribution facili-
ties were renewed for a
further year.

A cost-of-living adjust-
ment for Gulf Canada's
pensioners, effective
November 1, 1984, was
warmly received.

Returns on the short-term
investment portfolio, whichis
managed by the Treasury
Department, improved signi-

ficantly in 1984, as a result of

a higher proportion of

equity-related investments.
The Risk and Insurance

Department was heavily

involved during the year

in the insurance aspects of a

fire at Clarkson Refinery in

.% Tensar Plant Near Atlanta in Production

The Tensar Corporation, in
which Guli Canada has a half
interest, completed construction
of its head office and first North
American manufacturing plant
and warehouse near Atlanta,
Georgia, during 1984. The 15,800
square metre %70,000 square
foot) facility began operation in
July, producing high-strength
polymeric grids for a wide variety
of applications.

Initial sales have been for inter-
nal reinforcement and support of
engineered soil structures, and
control of internal drainage and
surface erosion of such struc-
tures. New products are being
developed for concrete and

Interest in Atlanta-based Téhsar Corporation provides diversification for Gulf Canada.

asphalt reinforcement.

Tensar fencing products are
available for agricultural fences,
industrial safety barricades,
sports enclosures and snow
control.

In January 1985, the corpora-
tion expanded its distribution
network significantly by appoint-
ing two national distributors in
the United States and one in
Canada for Tensar products:
Armco Inc., for construction
markets; Athalon, Inc., for re-
creational facility fences; and
Safety Supply Canada for indust-
rial safety fences in this country.
Additional distributors will be
appointed to serve other markets.

February 1984. The Corpora-
tion's insurance package was
renewed for a three-year
term, with some improve-
ments in coverage.

The Research and Develop-
ment Department, in addition
lo meeting the current and
future technology needs of
the Gulf Canada operating
companies, undertook a
number of shared-cost
research projects with
various Federal and Alberta
government agencies.
Current projects deal with
heavy oil recovery and up-
arading, synthetic fuel
processing and coal benefici-
ation.

A mobile laboratory,
developed to evaluate and
optimize well work-overs
and acid treatments, im-
proved well productivity at
reduced cost in the Estevan
area of Saskatchewan.

Introduction of micro-
computer control and data
acquisition to procedures for
the testing of lubricants in
engines is increasing the reli-
ability and efficiency of
performance assessments, a
necessary step in obtaining
auto industry approvals for
new products.

A three-year, 3 million km
(1.9 million mile) field trial
with CP Rail resulted in the
first service qualification
granted by General Motors'
Electromotive Division to a
multi-grade railway diesel
engine oil.

During 1984, the Informa-
tion Services Department
concenirated mainly on
measures to increase produc-
tivity, facilitate access to
information by decision-
makers, improve planning



processes and enhance
customer service.

The computer and com-
munications network was
improved and extended to all
parts of the Corporation.

An “Infocentre” was estab-
lished to familiarize person-
nel with computer and com-
munications hardware and
software.

In Gulf Canada Products
Company, increased com-
puterization of refineries,
distribution terminals and
certain administrative
functions contributed to
improved productivity and
profitability.

Opinion surveys confirmed
that Gulf Canada’s Public
Affairs’ advertising achieved
the highest recognition level
of any Canadian corporate ad
series.

The Gulf Canada magazine,
Commentator, converted
to an external journal of
opinion on current economic
and social issues, attained a
circulation of 22,000. With
articles contributed by
distinguished Canadians, this
new publication was
welcomed by opinion leaders
as a constructive vehicle for
stimulating tripartite discus-
sion involving representa-
tives of labor, government
and industry.

Corporate donations
during 1984 increased to
$3 million in response to a
number of major campaigns
for universities and hospitals,
as well as increased sponsor-
ship of cultural events.

More than 45 per cent of
corporate donations were to
health and welfare organiza-
tions, including over 20 per
cent to the United Way/Cen-

traide campaigns in 70 centres
across Canada. Corporate
scholarships, fellowships and
appeals from educational
institutions accounted for
almost 30 per cent of total
donations, with cultural or-
ganizations and sponsored
events receiving 12 per cent.
The balance of grants made
during the year were to
community projects and civic

appeals in many centres.

Undergraduate scholar-
ships of $2,000 each were
funded to 53 dependents of
Gulf Canada employees, and
10 post-graduate fellowships
of $9,000 each were awarded
during 1984.

Funding for the Fellow-
ships/Scholarships/Bursaries
program was almost
$220,000.
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Again in 1984, Gulf
Canada was one of the
most active drillers in
Western Canada,
participating in 547
exploratory and
development wells, of
which 441 were
completed as potential
oil or gas producers.




The $251 million earned by
Gulf Canada Resources Inc.
(GCRI) in 1984 was slightly
above the record $242 million
established in 1983. The
increase was mainly due to
higher prices for both oil and
gas, as well as increased gas
volumes.

Capital and exploratory
expenditures decreased by
$155 million, to $478 million.
Western Canada accounted
for more than half of total
1984 spending, reflecting the
continued high level of
drilling there, and increased
production-related activity to
bring new reserves on
stream.

Production and Development

PRODUCTION

Gross production of conven-
tional and synthetic crude oil
and natural gas liquids
(NGL) increased by 1.3 per
cent above the 1983 level, to
19,074 cubic metres (119,970

barrels) per day. Natural gas
produced and sold increased
18.5 per cent, to 8.8 million
cubic metres (312 million
cubic feet) per day.

Gains in production of
conventional light and heavy
oil, as well as a significant
increase in NGL production,
more than offset lower output
from the Syncrude oil sands
plant, which was damaged
by fire in August 1984, after
setting a production record
the previous year.

Not only was Gulf
Canada’s production of con-
ventional light, medium and
heavy oil maintained at
capacity during 1984, but the
share of this production
qualifying for the New Oil
Reference Price also
increased significantly,
to 24 per cent.

In response to steady
demand for natural gas
liquids for conventional
markets, and projected

Financial and Operating Summary 1984 1983
FINANCIAL
[millions of dollars)
Net segment earnings after taxes $ 251 $ 242
Capital and Exploration Expenditures
Conventional Oil and Gas $ 148 $ 117
Syncrude 16 13
Exploration 259 303
Beaufort Sea Drilling System 34 190
Other 11 10
Total $ 478 $ 633
Capital employed at year-end $1,812 $1,628
Return on average capital employed 14.6% 16.0%
OPERATING
(thousands of cubic metres per day)
Gross production
Crude oil and natural gas liquids 17.8 17:2
Synthetic crude oil 1.2 1.6
Natural gas produced and sold
(millions of cubic metres per day) 8.8 7.4
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requirements for GCRI-
interest enhanced oil recovery
projects, the company tied
in natural gas reserves rich in
liquids. These actions, and
increased gas production,
raised NGL output.
Production of heavy oil
increased 42 per cent, to 831
cubic metres (5,227 barrels)
daily, including 125 cubic
metres (786 barrels) a day

from GCRI's Pelican Lake in
situ fire-flood project in the
Wabasca oil sands deposit of
northeastern Alberta.

Gulf Canada’s 9.03 per cent
share of Syncrude’s produc-
tion declined by 23 per cent,
to 1,237 cubic metres (7,783
barrels) daily, from the record
1983 level of 1,600 cubic
metres (10,064 barrels) per
day.

. Enhanced Recovery Boosts Oil Production

[E— |

Conventional production tech-
niques for most light oil reservoirs
recover only about 30 to 40 per
cent of reserves, but recovery
often can be increased substan-
tially through enhanced oil
recovery (EOR) techniques.
The most attractive method,
hydrocarbon miscible flooding,
involves injecting natural gas
and its liquids into the reservoir
to move the oil to nearby produ-
cing wells. EOR is expensive,
but incentives provided by the
Alberta and federal governments
have greatly enhanced the
economics of such projects.
The first GCRI-operated
commercial miscible flood pro-
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Vince Cheung (1), Dzintra Ziemelis discuss model of an enhanced recovery project.

ject, operating in the south lobe
of the Fenn-Big Valley field in
southern Alberta, is expected to
recover an additional 800,000
cubic metres (5.0 million barrels)
over the life of the project.

GCRl is also a participant in
the South Swan Hills project,
operating since 1973, and has
committed funds to a second
Swan Hills project under con-
struction for start-up in 1986.

Five other projects are at
various stages of planning and
development, providing a major
opportunity for Gulf Canada to
maximize production from
reserves that have already been
established.

The Syncrude participants
applied, in 1984, for approval
to increase the project's
synthetic crude oil produc-
tion level to 8 million cubic
metres (50.3 million barrels)
per year by 1987. At the new
permit level approved by the
Alberta Energy Resources
Conservation Board, GCRI's
share of production would
rise to 1,980 cubic metres

Gross Crude Qil,
Natural Gas Liquids and
Synthetic Crude Qil Produced

Millions of cubic metres per year

Crude Oil -
Natural Gas Liquids =
Synthetic =]
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(12,450 barrels) a day.

With approximately two-
thirds of GCRI's natural gas
production sold in Canada,
increased domestic demand
was the main reason for the
significant increase in 1984
production and sales. How-
ever, by year-end, export
sales were increasing as a
result of contracts negotiated
under the new market-sensit-

ive pricing authorized by the
federal government. At the
GCRI-operated 37 per cent
Gulf-interest Hanlan-Robb
gas processing plant, which is
geared mainly to exports, uti-
lization of the plant’s capacity
of 6.5 million cubic metres
(230 million cubic feet) per
day rose to an average of 34
per cent in 1984 from 25 per
cent in 1983.

DEVELOPMENT
In 1984, GCRI participated in
448 development and explor-
atory outpost wells in the
conventional oil and gas
areas of Western Canada. Of
416 gross successful wells,
319 found light oil, 67 heavy
oil, and 30 natural gas.

At year-end, remaining
net proved reserves of crude
oil, NGL and synthetic crude

Gross Natural Gas
Produced and Sold
Billions of cubic metres per year

Estimated Gross Proved Reserves
Western Canada Natural Gas
Billions of cubic metres

ESTIMATED REMAINING RESERVES

Crude Oil and Natural Gas Liquids
Proved (1)
Western Canada Conventional
Synthetic/Syncrude (2)
Total Proved

Established (Includes proved) (3)
Western Canada Conventional
Rest of Canada (4)
Synthetic/Syncrude (2)

Total Established

Natural Gas
Proved (1)
Western Canada

Established (Includes proved) (3)
Western Canada
Rest of Canada (4) (5)

Total Established

Sulphur
Proved

Gross Net
1984/1983 1984/1983

(millions of cubic metres)

47.2 / 513 36.1 / 366
13.7 / 142 13.0 / 11.7
60.9 / 655 49.1 / 483
58.8 / 61.8 451 / 437
49.2 / 46.2 37.6 / 36.6
13.7 / 142 13.0 ./ 11.7
121.7 /1222 95.7 / 92.0

(billions of cubic metres)

62.2 1 706 48.9 / 509
86.7 / 915 68.1 / 654
61.6 / 72.7 48.4 / 60.0
148.3 /164.2 116.5 /1254

(millions of tonnes)
43/ 35 3.8/ 28

(1) “Proved” gross reserves are
before deducting royalties. Proved
net reserves are after deducting
royalties which vary depending on
prices, production rates and
legislative changes. Proved reserves
are those which appear with
reasonable certainty to be recover-
able under existing economic and
operating conditions.

(2) Synthetic crude oil reserves
resulting from Gulf Canada's interest
in the Syncrude project in the
Athabasca oil sands deposit are
shown in gross and net volumes.

(3) The definition for “established” is
the same as recommended by

the Canadian Petroleum Association,
National Energy Board and Alberta
Energy Resources Conservation
Board. Established reserves are
those which appear with reasonable
certainty to be recoverable under
existing and anticipated economic
conditions. Proved reserves are
part of this category.

(4) “Rest of Canada” includes frontier
reserves in areas such as Parsons
Lake, Whitefish, Amauligak and
Hibernia.

(5) The reductionin reservesisdueto
Labrabor Shelf reserves no longer
being considered as “established".
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showed a small increase. A
decline in proved natural gas
reserves was due to 1984
production, deferral of some
new gas projects as a result of
lower prices, and a re-evalua-
tion of operating fields under
current economic conditions,
Gulf Canada Resources Inc.
continued its “quick-connect”
strategy of concentrating on
delineating reserves capable

of being rapidly tied in to
existing processing and
tmnsportdhon facilities.
Additions to established oil
reserves were made in num-
erous producing areas of
Alberta. Three wells com-
pleted at Zama/Virgo added
200,000 cubic metres (1.3
million barrels). Other suc-
cessful development wells
contributed an additional

- a——
Operators Neil McRobbie, Don Nobert monitor NGL extraction at Strachan Gas Plant

The largest increase in Gulf
Canada’s 1984 liquid hydrocar-
bon production was from a
gain in natural gas liquids (NGL),
some of which were re-injected.
GCRI provides propane and bu-
tane to Gulf Canada Products
Company.

Another NGL component,
ethane, is increasingly in demand
for the many indusiry enhanced
oil recovery projects scheduled
to come on stream in this decade.
GCRI, involved in eight such pro-
jects, took steps, in 1984, to
secure additional ethane sup-
plies.

Major purchase contracts
signed with gas producers in the
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Deep Basin area of northwestern
Alberta will provide 525 cubic
metres (3,300 barrels) per day of
ethane-rich NGL for GCRI-
interest EOR projects.

In 1985, an additional 350
cubic metres (2,200 barrels) per
day of NGL will be extracted by
the GCRI-operated Strachan and
Rimbey plants from gas and
liquids moved by pipeline from
the Strachan, Garrington-Caro-
line and Gilby fields.

A 26.3 per cent interest in the
Judy Creek extraction unit will
provide GCRI with 168 cubic
metres (1,057 barrels) per day of
ethane when production com-
mences in the fall of 1985.

1.3 million cubic metres
(8.2 million barrels) of estab-
lished reserves.

Development drilling also
resulted in significant addi-
tions to established natural
gas reserves in Alberta. In
the Millarville-Sarcee area,
two successful wells added
1.3 billion cubic metres
(46.2 billion cubic feet); in the
Lanaway-Garringlon area
three successful wells added
500 million cubic metres
(17.8 billion cubic feet).

During 1984, GCRI
responded 1o a number of
natural gas development op-
portunities by completing
three pipeline projects in
Alberta.

The Strachan-Mannville
project connected 500 million
cubic metres [17.8 billion
cubic feet) of contracted gas
to the Strachan gas pldnt

The Garrington-Caroline
projecl, anpleted in
November, was a response to
increasing demands for gas
related to enhanced recovery
projects, and for fuel at
Edmonton Refinery. The
project connected 1.1 billion
cubic metres (39.1 billion
cubic feet) of gas from the
Garrington-Caroline area to
the Strachan gas plant.

The third project, a natural
gas and products pipeline
from the Gilby field to the
Rimbey gas plant, made
increased recovery of natural
gas liquids possible.

Additional sales expected
from these projects will
amount to 590,000 cubic
metres (21 million cubic feet)
per day of natural gas and 350
cubic metres (2,200 barrels)
per day of natural gas liquids.

In Saskatchewan, the



company participated in 77
heavy oil wells during 1984.
Of these, 67 were successful,
adding more than 650,000
cubic metres (4.1 million
barrels) to established heavy
oil reserves.

GCRI also participated in
40 development and 31
outpost light oil wells in
southeastern Saskatchewan,
of which 70 were successful.
Outpost drilling activity
increased the company’s
established reserves by
230,000 cubic metres (1.5
million barrels).

In northeastern British
Columbia, attention focused
on the Desan area. Develop-
ment drilling, which began in
the winter of 1983-84, adding
1.5 million cubic metres (9.4
million barrels) to GCRI's
established reserves, con-
tinued this past winter.
Additional production testing
and further delineation
drilling is scheduled for early
1985. The recent completion
of an all-weather access road
into this muskeg region by
the B.C. Government will
make year-round operation
possible and accelerate
development of the Desan
area.

By year-end, enhanced oil
recovery in Alberta account-
ed for 5.5 per cent of the
company’s conventional
crude oil production.

Exploration

Exploratory activity in 1984
exceeded 1983 activity in
both Western Canada and the
frontiers. In the Arctic and
East Coast offshore areas,
selective farm-outs to
Canadian companies con-
tinued to reduce GCRI's

frontier exploration costs,
while raising Canadian
content toward the 50 per
cent required before produc-
tion may begin.

More than half of Gulf
Canada Resources’ 1984
exploration spending was in
Western Canada, where
significant additions to both
crude oil and natural gas
reserves were made.

WESTERN CANADA

Western Canada exploration
continued to concentrate on
light oil prospects, and on the
search for natural gas near
existing transporation and
processing facilities. The
company participated in 99
wildcat wells during the year,
which resulted in 11 oil and
14 gas discoveries.

An emphasis on oil led to

Key Western Oil/Gas Areas
YUKON\

N.W.T.
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significant discoveries at
Peerless Lake, Worsley and
lIosegun in Alberta, and to
successful extension of the
Desan oil tind.

GCRI continued to evaluate
its coal prospects in British
Columbia and Alberta. De-
tailed studies and field work
confirmed the Mount
Klappan coal property in
northwestern B.C. as one of

the world's largest deposils
of high-quality, surface-
mineable anthracite. A min-
ing feasibility study is
scheduled for 1985.
FRONTIERS

Beaufort Sea

In 1984, GCRI participated in
six Beaufort Sea wells, four of
which were drilled by the
company’s Arctic offshore

Revenues Soon from Condensate-Rich Find

High liquids content will make the

A 1984 condensate-rich gas
discovery, Groat, 200 km (125
miles) west of Edmonton, will be
adding significantly to Gulf
Canada’s production revenues
in 1986.

Because of the high ratio of
condensate to gas, the liquids
and sulphur will be removed
for sale, and the stripped gas
returned to the reservoir to main-
tain pressure in the formation
and optimize recovery of the
liquids.

This recycling project will
involve construction oftwo 30 km
(19 mile) pipelines to the
Kaybob-Beaverhill Lake plant.
Construction of the pipelines
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Groat gas well an important condensate producer.

and field facilities is expected to
begin late in 1985.

Gas and liquids will be deliv-
ered through separate pipelines
to the Kaybob plant for further
processing and subsequent sale
or use by GCRI. Equivalent
volumes of siripped or lean gas
will be re-injected into the
reservoir a short distance from
the producing well to maintain
pressure.

Condensate is a valuable
product in very high demand.
Quick connection of the Groat
reserves will generate early
revenues and enhance Gulf
Canada Resources’ natural gas
liquids supply position.

drilling subsidiary, BeauDril
Limited. The conical drilling
unit Kulluk set a 140-day
operating record for a floating
unit, completing and testing
two wells and partially
drilling two others.

It began the season by
completing Pitsiulak A-05, in
which GCRI has a 65 per
cent working interest.
Pitsiulak, located 15 km (nine
miles) west of the Tarsiut
A-25 oil discovery, flowed oil
at rates up to 364 cubic
metres (2,290 barrels) a day.
Kulluk then returned to the
Amauligak [-44 well to
complete what proved to be a
significant oil discovery in
which Gulf Canada has a 49
per cent working interest. Oil
was recovered from two
zones, with one zone tested at
823 cubic melres (5,173
barrels) per day. Daily pro-
duction capability of this
zone was calculated to be
2,160 cubic metres (13,600
barrels) of oil. In addition,
natural gas was tested from
three zones at rates up to
950,000 cubic metres (34
million cubic feet) per day.

After drilling under con-
tract for another Beaufort Sea
operator, Kulluk was moved
30 km (19 miles) northwest
of Amauligak to Akpak P-35,
which it drilled to 2,169
melres (7,116 feet). Akpak, in
which Gulf Canada has a 48
per cent working interest,
and the contract well, will
both be re-entered in the
1985-86 season.

Gulf Canada's Beaufort Sea
Drilling System was com-
pleted in August, with de-
livery of the mobile arctic
caisson Molikpaq. This rig's
first well was Tarsiut P-45, a



delineation well on the west
end of the Tarsiut structure.
A test of the upper portion of
the sand reservoir flowed oil
at rates of up to 203 cubic
metres (1,274 barrels) daily.
Gulf Canada was also
involved in two partner-
operated wells, Siulik I-05
and Arluk E-90. Siulik was
abandoned after recording
only a minor oil show. Arluk,
in which GCRI has a five per
cent interest, was drilled to
total depth, with testing
scheduled for 1985.

Development Plans

GCRI believes that
Amauligak has the potential
for commercial development,
subject to successful delinea-
tion drilling in the 1985-86
season, using Molikpag.

During 1984, the company
continued to work on systems
for producing and transport-
ing oil from the Beaufort Sea.

GCRI was encouraged by
recommendations released in
July by the Beaufort Sea
Environmental Assessment
Panel. The panel concluded
that oil and gas production
and transportation would be
acceptable if phased in
gradually.

Arctic Islands

During the 1983-84 winter
drilling season, GCRI partici-
pated in three Arctic Islands
wells. Skate C-59 did not
extend the area of the
previous Skate oil discovery,
while Buckingham O-68 and
Cisco M-22 were dry and
abandoned.

The company is partici-
pating in two 16 per cent
GCRI-interest wells during
the 1984-85 winter season:

1984 Land Inventory Summary

GROSS NET

Petroleum and Natural Gas

Western Canada

Frontier
Beaufort Sea
Yukon and NWT
Mackenzie Delta
Arctic Islands
East Coast

Total Frontier

Oil Sands
Alberta

Total Petroleum/Natural Gas/Oil Sands

Coal

(Millions of Hectares)

2.8 1.7
1.5 0.5
2.1 0.4
0.6 0.4
7.2 1=
16.5 4.9
279 7.3
0.3 0.2
31.0 9.2
0.3 0.3

Drake L-06, a delineation
well on the east side of the
large Drake gas field, and
Cape Allison C-47, a wildcat
well between King Christian
and Ellef Ringnes islands.

East Coast Offshore

GCRI participated in 10
wells on the Grand Banks
east of Newfoundland, three
of which were on the 25

per cent Gulf Canada-interest
Hibernia block. One was the
ninth successful delineation
well in the Hibernia field,
while the other two were
wildcat wells.

Hibernia C-96 flowed oil
at rates up to 181 cubic
metres (1,140 barrels) per
day. South Mara C-13, drilled
16 km (10 miles) southeast of
the Hibernia field, tested oil
at 276 cubic metres (1,734
barrels) per day, gas at
399,000 cubic metres (14.1
million cubic feet) per day,
and condensate at 105 cubic
metres (663 barrels) per day.
Mara M-54, east of the

Hibernia field, was drilling at
year-end.

On the Grand Banks
outside the Hibernia block,
GCRI was participating in
another well at year-end,
West Ben Nevis B-75, in
which it has an 18.75 per cent
interest.

The company farmed out
portions of its interests in
six exploratory wells to
Canadian-controlled
companies.

The Archer K-19 and
Voyager J-18 wells were
abandoned, but Trave E-87,
about 64 km (40 miles) east
of Hibernia, flowed gas and
condensate from thin zones.
Whiterose N-22 flowed oil at
87 cubic metres (547 barrels)
per day and gas at 602,900
cubic metres (21.4 million
cubic feet) per day. Conquest
J-09 and North Ben Nevis
P-93 were drilling at year-
end. GCRI retains 14 per cent
working interests in Archer
and Voyager, and 9.4 per
cent in the other four wells.

1%
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.‘. Banner Year for Beaufort Sea Activity

Some observers predicted that
1984 would be a “make-or-
break’ year for Beaufort Sea
exploration. For GCRI it was a
banner year — both in terms of
significant discoveries and the
outstanding performance of the
state-of-the-art arctic drilling
equipment operated by its
subsidiary, BeauDril Limited.
The Pitsiulak A-05 and
Amauligak J-44 wells, both
oil discoveries, were completed
within 13 months, an unprece-
dented accomplishment made
possible primarily by the unique
design features of the conical
drilling unit Kulluk.

Drilling at Pitsiulak began on
June 15 — a record early start
which followed a late-season
record set in December 1983.
After testing Pitsiulak, Kulluk
completed the important
Amauligak discovery.

Delineation drilling at
Amauligak will begin in 1985
using the mobile arctic caisson
Molikpagq, which drilled and
tested its first well during 1984,
operating until late December.

Gulf Canada’s new drilling
system has safely extended the
Beaufort Sea drilling season and
enhanced the Corporation’s
position in this key frontier.




1. BeauDril port engineer Bill Farnworth
reflects on Beaufort Sea drilling success.

2. MV Terry Fox is one of four ice-breaking
support vessels in GCRI's “northern navy”.

3. BeauDril icebreakers tow Kulluk drilling
unit to the Amauligak well location.

4. Amauligak test warms frontier exploration
manager Dick Cote and Gulf Canada
Resources' President Harry Carlyle.

5. First well drilled by BeauDril's new mobile
Arctic caisson Molikpag was Tarsiut P-45.

- Progress at Hibernia

A major uncertainty concerning
development of the Hibernia
field was resolved in 1984, when
the Supreme Court of Canada
ruled on jurisdiction over the
portion of the Grand Banks
which contains the Hibernia field.

At year-end, the Hibernia
partners had completed an
Environmental Impact Statement,
and were in the process of

pngaﬂng production plans.
Both will be filed in 1985.

Since the Hibernia P-15
discovery well was drilled and
tested in 1979, nine successful
delineation wells have been
drilled. Gulf Canada has a 25 per
cent interest in the field.
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Gulf
Canada
Products
Company

A modern version of
old-fashioned service,
is Gulf Canada's
“Service Plus” con-
cept, tested in Toronto
and scheduled for
expansion during
1985. Participating
dealers like Bill
Mimms perform 12
important service
checks for customers.

a0



During 1984, the downstream
segment of the Canadian
petroleum industry continued
its recovery from the reces-
sion of 1982. Gulf Canada
Products Company (GCPC),
capitalizing on efficiency
measures and consolidations
carried out in 1982 and 1983,
achieved a significant profit-
ability improvement in 1984.
However, earnings and the
return on capital employed,
were still well below the
levels attained prior to the
introduction of the National
Energy Program in October
1980.

Productivity and efficiency
continued to improve during
1984 as a result of further
measures to streamline
operations.

In order to be more respon-
sive to customer needs, the
company’'s Marketing Depart-
ment was restructured during
the year. This reorganization
involved separating the mar-
keting functions to enable the
Regional Sales organizations

to respond more quickly to
developing opportunities,
with the Marketing group at
head office concentrating on
the longer-range strategy,
advertising and support
functions. Regular meetings
between Marketing and Sales
ensure co-ordinated efforts.

In April, a separate busi-
ness unit was created for
lubricants to capitalize more
fully on Gulf Canada’s strong
competitive position in this
market segment. This new
profit centre, which directs
and co-ordinates the produc-
tion, packaging, marketing
and sales functions for all
lubricating oils and greases,
is contributing to both in-
creased market share and
profitability.

Industry demand for
refined products did not
increase in 1984, due to the
success of government energy
conservation and substitu-
tion programs, and uneven
recovery in the various
sectors of the economy.

Financial and Operating Summary 1984 1983
FINANCIAL
(millions of dollars)
Net segment earnings (losses) after taxes $ 95 5 (2)
Capital expenditures $ 92 3 9N
Capital emploved at year-end $ 1,778 $1,719
Return on average capital employed 5.4% (0.1)%
OPERATING
(thousands of cubic metres per day)
Crude oil
Processed 35.7 33.2
Capacity at year-end 45.7 45.7
Capacity utilized 79% 75%
Sales
Refined products 30.0 31.8
Petrochemicals
(millions of kilograms per day) 0.6 0.7

21




Nationally, Gulf Canada
Products Company’s sales of
refined products were ap-
proximately 30,000 cubic
melres (188,700 barrels) per
day, 5.7 per cent lower than in
1983. Eastern Canada sales
were 16,400 cubic metres
(103,200 barrels) per day for
the year, down 5.9 per cent
compared to 1983. Western
Canada sales also declined
during 1984, partly due to
poor economic conditions and
company efforts to improve
margins.

A major fire at Clarkson
Refinery in February 1984
caused significant damage to
the lubricating oil manufac-
turing facilities. However,
repairs to all but one of the
plant's four units were com-
pleted within three weeks.
During the four months it
took to get the HydroTreating
unit back into full operation,
GCPC was able to meet the
needs of customers by

drawing down inventories,
manufacturing lubricants
from semi-finished base
stocks on hand at the time of
the fire, and purchasing some
products from other sup-
pliers.

Modifications to the
Clarkson and Montreal East
refineries that were necessary
to integrate operations were
completed, and the two re-
fineries linked through the
Interprovincial Pipe Line
system. The transmission to
Montreal East Refinery of
hydrocarbons partially
processed at Clarkson began
on October 1, 1984.

GCPC intends to invest
approximately $39 million
at Montreal East Refinery
during the 1984-85 period.
The most significant projest
is an upgrading of the reform-
ing unit. This investment will
result in increased through-
put and yield, improved
product quality, and a signifi-

cant reduction in energy
consumption.

In Western Canada, the
company closed ils Calgary
asphalt plant, which is being
dismantled. The plant at
Moose Jaw, Saskatchewan,
now meets asphall require-
ments in Western Canada.

Following feasibility tests,
Gulf Canada received ap-
proval from the National
Energy Board to ship refined
products through the Trans
Mountain crude oil pipeline
from Edmonton to Kamloops.
This represents a more
efficient and cost-effective
method of supplying refined
products to the interior of
British Columbia.

The 13.1 million cubic
metres (82.4 million barrels)
of feedstock processed by the
company during 1984 was
up 7.5 per cent from 1983,
reflecting increased process-
ing for other companies under
long-lerm agreements. As a

Crude Oil Processed
by the Corporation
Thousands of cubic metres per day
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Imported B
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result, refining capacity utili-
zation increased to 79 per cent
during 1984, from 75 per cent
in the previous year.

In 1984, GCPC imported
419,500 cubic metres (2.6
million barrels) of crude oil,
less than four per cent of the
company's total crude oil
requirements.

The marine transportation
section achieved an excellent
safety record during the year,
moving approximately 1.1
million cubic metres (6.9
million barrels) of crude oil
and refined products without
environmental incident. The
tanker SS Gulf Canada was
sold during the year to reduce
transportation costs.

Early in 1984, Gulf Canada
sold its one-third equity
interest in the Pétromont Inc.
petrochemical consortium
to the two remaining partners.
GCPC continued to operate
the Varennes plant and the
Shawinigan pipeline system
under an operating and
service agreement until its
expiry on October 2, 1984, at
which time the work force
was transferred to Pétromont.

On the same date, the
remaining partners in
Pétromont Inc. exercised an
option to purchase the assets
of Commercial Alcohols Ltd.,
a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Gulf Canada.

Having withdrawn from
these segments of the
chemicals business, GCPC is
in a better position to con-
centrate on its core petro-
chemical activities, including
the manufacture and sale of
cyclohexane, benzene, toluene
and phenol, as well as a full
range of chemical solvents.

The Clarkson refinery

down-sizing, closure of the
Calgary asphalt plant, sale
of Pétromont and Commer-
cial Alcohols, and consolida-
tion of a number of admini-
strative functions, reduced
manpower requirements
approximately 10 per cent
below the 1983 year-end
level.

Management developed
and participated in a coast-

to-coast communications
effort to help employees
adjust to the organizational
changes required to compete
successfully in the rapidly-
changing marketplace.
During 1984, Gulf Canada
Products Company under-
took a number of projects to
better meet the needs of its
customers, with particular

emphasis [continued on page 26)
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1. Gulf-McDonald's outlets attract motorists
on two busiest highways in Ontario.

2. Yukon dealer Don Acorn, salesman
Bob Doig, present car to “Scratch for
Cash” winner Renee Roy.

3. Quebec Provi-Soir gas bars are open
24 hours a day for the convenience of
customers.

<~ Gulf Means More . . . Retail Innovations

“Gulf Means More!” That
slogan refers to Gulf Canada
Products Company’s determina-
tion to build its business by pro-
viding more service, more con-
venience, and more special
features than its major
competitors.

Gulf products are being sold at
an increasing number of 24-hour
self-service outlets, and by
convenience food chains such
as Provi-Soir in Quebec and
7-Eleven in Western Canada.

Highway travellers will be able

to obtain fast-service meals of
consistent quality and reason-
able price at McDonald's restau-
rants to be operaling by July
1985, at four major Gulf service
centres on Ontario’s two busiest
highways, 400 and 401.

Gulf also delivers extra value to
customers through reduced-
price meal promotions at Swiss
Chalet and Harvey's restaurants.
And, during 1984, eight cust-
omers won Mercury Cougars in
Gulf Canada’s “Scratch for
Cash” promotion.




090 Extra Services Gain Business Customers

When Gulf Canada says it is
getting “closer to the customer”,
to increase its industrial and
commercial sales, those aren’t
empty words. Recently, the
company moved an 8,744 cubic
metre (55,000 barrel) storage
tank from the old Calgary refinery
to a nearby C P Rail site to facil-
itate long-term supply of diesel
fuel to the railway.

“Card-lock” outlets which give
industrial and commercial cust-
omers 24-hour access to fuel,
with automatic billing, proved

so popular in the west that
GCPC, in 1984, began installing
them at key eastern locations.

A more efficient delivery
system for bulk grease ship-
ments, introduced in 1984, is
expected to boost sales signifi-
cantly. Three large new truck
trailers, with 20,000 kg (44,000
Ibs.) capacity, can deliver three
types of grease in separate insu-
lated cylinders. Hydraulic pistons
in each cylinder unload the
grease rapidly, even in cold
weather.

1. Entering an Alberta mine, one of GCPC's
new grease trailers.

2. fills customer's bins.

3. In Eastern Canada, salesman Pierre
Taillon makes a similar grease delivery to
Roy Taylor of Stelco at Hamilton.

4. Keylock outlets provide 24-hour fuel
access and automatic billing for com-
mercial customers.

5. Move of storage tank in Calgary clinched
long-term sale of diesel fuel to CP Rail.
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on the motoring public.

One example is the Retail
Fleet Program. Designed for
vehicle fleets of all sizes, this
program provides exception-
al benefits to fleet owners.
A coasl-to-coast network of
Fleet Care Centres provides
mainlenance services and a
complele range of Gulf auto-
motive products to fleet
customers, Customized com-

-

To capitalize more fully on the
advantage of being the country’s
only producer of hydrogen-
treated lubricating oils and
greases, Gulf Canada Products
Company, early in 1984, restruc-
tured its lubricants segment as a
separate business unit, with its
own General Manager.

This new organization controls
all aspects of lube oil production,
packaging and marketing, in
order to be more responsive to
the needs of customers.

The exclusive Gulf-patented
high-temperature, high-pressure
“HydroTreating” process
produces lubricants with out-
standing performance character-

26

puter billings and pre-
arranged volume discounts
enable participating compan-
ies to achieve significant
savings of time and money.

A number of other pro-
grams were also undertaken
to improve the efficiency and
effectiveness of the company’s
operations, including in-
creased compulerizalion and
office automation.

Lube unit head Bert Tufts (), Frank Sumeraj check Clarkson's poly botte filling line.

istics that provide customers
with significant operating
economies and other benefits.

For example, a Gulf Canada
energy-efficient lubricant is
the only one in Canada acknow-
ledged by major railways as
providing fuel savings.

Oil of comparable quality is
available to industrial and
commercial users, and to the
motoring public who can benefit
similarly from operating
ﬁfﬂlciencles and longer engine

e.

During 1984, the Clarkson
refinery celebrated the produc-
tion of its one billionth litre of
HydroTreated base stock.

A program to automate the
major distribution terminals,
which started in 1983 at
Montreal East, continued
through 1984. Automation of
administrative functions,
such as order entry, first
implemented at Montreal
East, was extended to the
Edmonton, Regina, Saskatoon
and Winnipeg supply points.

GCPC recognizes the
importance of providing a
safe, clean environment for
its employees, as well as the
communities in which it
operates. Each year, signifi-
cant investment is committed
to training employees in the
techniques needed to deal
with environmental inci-
dents. Though the likelihood
of a major environmental
incident is small, GCPC has
taken steps to ensure that any
spill would be handled safely
and expeditiously.

The Restrictive Trade
Practices Commission inquiry
into The State of Competition
in the Canadian Petroleum
Industry concluded its hear-
ings during 1984. The
Commission’s final report is
not expected to lead to any
charges of wrongdoing, since
the industry regards the
allegations as unsubstan-
tiated.

Earnings of Gulf Canada'’s
Superior Propane Limited
subsidiary remained at
approximately the same level
as in 1983, with increased
sales revenues offset by
higher product costs and
other expenses. Sales vol-
umes increased 10 per cent as
a result of aggressive expan-
sion in traditional markets
and in the rapidly growing
automolive sector.



Financial
Statements

Gulf Canada’s head
offices, occupying the
top five floors of The
Continental Bank
building (rear) in down-
town Toronto, rise
above the new Toronto
Stock Exchange
building where the
Corporation's shares
are actively traded.




Summary of Accounting Policies

The consolidated financial statements of the
Corporation have been prepared by management in
accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in Canada. Because a precise determination
of many assets and liabilities is dependent upon
future events, the preparation of periodic financial
statements necessarily involves the use of numerous
estimates and approximations. The more significant
of the Corporation’s accounting policies are:

Principles of consolidation:

The accounts of the Corporation and all subsidiary
companies are included in the financial statements.
Investments in joint venture companies, owned 50
per cent or less, are accounted for on the equity basis.
The Corporation's proportionate share of assets and
liabilities relating to the Syncrude project are
included along with its share of production and costs.

Inventories:

Inventories of crude oil, products and merchandise
are valued generally at the lower of cost applied
on a first-in, first-out basis or market value deter-
mined on the basis of replacement cost or net
realizable value.

Oil and gas exploration and development
expenditures:

The Corporation follows the successful efforts
method of accounting for its exploration and develop-
ment costs. The initial acquisition costs of oil and
gas properties, the costs of drilling and equipping
development wells and successful exploratory wells
are capitalized. The costs of exploration wells clas-
sified as unsuccessful are charged to expense. All
other exploration expenditures, including geological
and geophysical costs and annual rentals on explor-
atory acreage, are charged to expense as incurred.

Capital leases:

Leases which transfer substantially all the benefits
and risks of ownership of the leased assets are
capitalized.

Depreciation, depletion and amortization:
Capitalized costs with respect to proved oil and gas
properties are amortized against earnings on the
unit-of-production method for each field using
estimated proved recoverable oil and gas reserves.
Charges are made against earnings for deprecia-
tion of investment in plant, equipment and capital-
ized leases, based on estimated remaining useful
lives of the assets using either the straight-line or the
unit-of-production method, as appropriate. Main-
tenance and repairs are charged to income; renewals
and betterments, which extend the economic life

of the assets, are capitalized.

Capitalized costs of unproved oil and gas, in situ
and mineable oil sand properties are amortized on a
group basis at a rate determined after considering
past experience, lease terms and other relevant
factors.
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Assets retired, or otherwise disposed of, are
removed from the accounts. Generally, the net
capital gain or loss, after adjustment for salvage and
dismantling expense, is included in earnings.

U.S. dollar liabilities:

Liabilities in U.S. dollars are translated to Canadian
dollars at year-end rates of exchange. Gains or losses
arising on translation of short-term liabilities are
included in earnings. Unrealized gains or losses aris-
ing on translation of long-term liabilities are deferred
and amortized over the remaining term of the
liabilities.

Interest costs:
Interest costs are charged to expense as incurred,

Research and development costs:

Research and development costs are charged to
expense as incurred.

Income taxes:

Income tax expense is computed on the basis of
revenues and expenses reflected in the statements of
earnings. A portion of such taxes is not currently
payable as tax legislation permits the deduction of
certain costs and allowances prior 1o the time they
are recorded as expenses for financial statement
purposes. The amount not currently payable is
included in the statements of financial position as
deferred income taxes.

Pensions:

Pension benefit costs are determined annually by
independent actuaries. The costs related to the cur-
rent service of employees are charged to expense.
Costs resulting from amendments or upgrading of
the plans, and which relate to service of employees in
prior years, are amortized over the estimated remain-
ing years of service of the employees invalved.

Government compensation and incentives:

Under the oil import compensation program, the
Federal Government compensates eligible importers
with respect to petroleum imported for consumption
in Canada, provided the importing company volun-
tarily maintains prices for products obtained from
imported petroleum at the level suggested by
the government. Compensation received or recover-
able under this program is reflected as a reduction
of the cost of purchased crude oil. The Federal
Government similarily compensates producers of
synthetic crude oil produced from tar sands plants.
Compensation received under this program for the
Corporation's share of production from the Syncrude
project is included in other operating revenues.
Federal and provincial government incentives,
including investment tax credits, Petroleum
Incentive Program grants and Alberta drilling incen-
tive credits, are deducted from the expenditures
to which they relate.



Consolidated Statements of Earnings and Retained Earnings

Gulf Canada Limited
Three Years Ended December 31, 1984

EARNINGS (millions of doellars) 1984 1983 1982
Revenues
Natural gas $ 349 $ 289 $ 298
Crude oil and natural gas liquids 805 772 625
Refined products

-gasolines 1,615 L6577 1,399

-middle distillates 1,191 1,152 1,078

-other 761 811 839
Chemicals 186 176 193
Other operating revenues 409 301 250
Net sales and other operating revenues (note 2) 5,316 5,078 4,682
Investment and other income (note 3) 106 85 245
Net revenues 5,422 5,163 4,927
Expenses
Purchased crude oil, products and merchandise 2,573 2,689 2,555
Operating expenses 584 583 549
Exploration expenses 197 213 218
Selling and administrative expenses 556 539 572
Taxes other than income taxes (note 4) 458 414 376
Income taxes (note 5) 363 186 173
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 263 207 175
Interest on long-term debt 120 114 108

5,114 4,945 4,726
Earnings for the year $ 308 8§ 218 $ 201
Earnings per share (dollars) $ 1.35 $ .96 $ .88
RETAINED EARNINGS
Balance, beginning of the year $1,939 $1,821 $1,720
Add earnings for the year 308 218 201
2,247 2,039 1,921

Deduct - dividends 114 100 100
Balance, end of the year $2,133 $1,939 $1,821

(See the summary of accounting policies and notes to consolidated financial statements)
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Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

Gulf Canada Limited
December 31, 1984 and 1983

ASSETS (millions of dollars) 1984 1983
Current
Cash and short-term investments, at cost which approximates market $ 861 $ 612
Accounts receivable (notes 6 and 10) 919 860
Inventories (note 7) 717 648
Materials, supplies and prepaid expenses 112 102
Total current assets 2,609 2,222
Investments, long-term receivables and other assets (note 8) 140 119
Property, plant and equipment, at cost less accumulated depreciation,
depletion and amortization (note 9) 2,886 2,771
$5,635 $5,112
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current
Accounts payable (note 10) $ 604 $ 568
Income and other taxes payable 443 221
Dividends payable 30 25
Other current liabilities (note 10) 289 240
Total current liabilities 1,366 1,054
Deferred gas production revenue 159 185
Long-term debt (note 11) 854 833
Deferred income taxes 718 696
Shareholders’ equity
Capital stock (note 12) 405 405
Retained earnings 2,133 1,939
Total shareholders’ equity 2,538 2,344
$5,635 $5,112

(See the summary of accounting policies and notes to consolidated financial statements)

On behalf of the Board:

].L. Stoik
Director

ol

Alfred Powis
Director
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Gulf Canada Limited
Three Years Ended December 31, 1984

CASH FROM OPERATIONS (millions of dollars) 1984 1983 1982
Earnings before non-cash items and
exploration expenses [note 15) $812 $729 $584
Decrease in working capital, other than cash (note 15) 174 111 115
Deferred gas production revenue (26) 13 79
Other (net) 2 7 6
962 860 784
CASH USED FOR INVESTMENT
Additions to property, plant and equipment 402 530 639
Exploration expenses 197 213 218
Investments and other assets 4 5 21
Total investment 603 748 878
Conversion of portion of Syncrude interest (note 3) E
Sale of portion of Port Moody Refinery (note 3) (95)
Sales of other properties and investments (30) (7) (29)
573 741 754
DIVIDENDS ON COMMON STOCK 114 100 100
FINANCING
Additions to long-term debt 5 25 166
Reductions in long-term debt (31) (14) (10)
(26) 11 156

Increase in cash and short-term investments less
short-term loans $249 $ 30 $ 86

Cash and short-term investments less
short-term loans at year-end $861 $612 $582

(See the summary of accounting policies and notes to consolidated financial statements)

AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Shareholders of Gulf Canada Limited:

We have examined the consolidated statements of financial position of Gulf Canada Limited as at
December 31, 1984 and 1983 and the consolidated statements of earnings and cash flows for the three years
ended December 31, 1984. Our examinations were made in accordance with generally accepted auditing
standards, and accordingly included such tests and other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances.

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly the financial position of the
Corporation as at December 31, 1984 and 1983 and the results of its operations and the changes in its financial
position for the three years ended December 31, 1984 in accordance with generally accepted accounting

principles consistently applied.

Toronto, Canada Clarkson Gordon
February 7, 1985 Chartered Accountants
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Gulf Canada Limited
December 31, 1984

1. Segment data (millions of dollars) Natural Resources
1984 1983 1982
Revenues
Qutside the enterprise $1140 § 911 § 759
Intersegment revenue 615 629 525
Total segment revenue $1,755 $1,540 $1,284
Earnings
Operating profits $ 625 $ 501 $ 319
Gains (losses) and write downs relating to properties (15) 22
General corporate expenses (18) (16) (18)

Interest on long-term debt
Elimination of intersegment earnings

Income taxes (341) (243) (180)
Net earnings (loss) for the year $ 251 $ 242 $ 143
Capital employed

Assets employed at December 31 $2,172  $2,046  $1,752

Current liabilities (360) (418) (363)

$1,812 $1,628 $1,389

Total investment
Additions to property, plant and equipment $ 281 $ 420 $ 422
Exploration expenses 197 213 218
Investments and other assels

$ 478 $ 633 $ 640

Depreciation, depletion and amortization $ 154 $ 107 $ 093

The natural resources segment includes exploration, development and production activities related to crude
oil, natural gas, natural gas liquids, oil sands and minerals. The downstream segment includes the
manufacture, distribution and sale of petroleum and chemical products, as well as the business of Superior
Propane Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary. For the years 1982 to 1984 chemical operations have
represented a minor portion of the Corporation’s business. With the 1984 sale of Gulf Canada’s interest in
Pétromont, the remaining chemical operations are included in the downstream segment. Prior years

have also been reclassified accordingly. Included in operating profits of corporate and other is net revenue
from other corporate investments.

The information by segment is shown as though each segment were a separate business activity. Therefore,

intersegment transfers of products are eliminated to reflect total Corporation net revenues, as reported
in the consolidated statements of earnings.
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Downstream Corporate and Other Total Consolidated

1984 1983 1982 1984 1983 1982 1984 1983 1982

$4,184 $4,175 $4,053 $ 98 . 77 S5 $5,422 $5,163 $4,927
20 17

$4,204 $4,192 $4,053 $ 98 $ 77 $ 115 $5,422 $5,163 $4,927

$ 201 $ 45 T $ 52 $ 44 $ 93 $ 878 $ 590 $ 469

(9) (40) 72 (24) (40) 94

(36) (36) (41) (54) (52) (59)

(120) (114) (108) (120) (114) (108)

(9) 20 (22) (9) 20 (22)

(61) 29 (10) 39 28 17 (363) (186) (173)

SaigBT - $- (2) % 78 $ (38) $ (22) $ (20 $ 308 $ 218 $§ 201

$2.,346 $2,249 $2,380 $1,117 $ 817 $ 783 $5,635 $5,112 $4,915

(568) (530) (579) (438) (106) (137) (1,366)  (1.054)  (1,079)

$1,778 $1,719 $1,801 $ 679 $ 7l $ 646 $4,269 $4,058 $3,836

$ 92 Hiesg] $ 192 $ 29 $19 $ 25 $ 402 & 530 $ 639

197 213 218

4 5 21 4 5 21

$ 92 $ 91 $ 192 $ .33 24 $ 46 $ 603 $ 748 3 878

$ 98 $ 88 SRS $ 11 S 12 $ 7 $ 263 $ 207 1674,

2. Crude oil and petroleum product transactions
Crude oil production sold to the Alberta Petroleum Marketing Commission is included in net sales

and other operating revenues. Other crude oil sales are not included in net sales and other operating
revenues, but are applied to reduce the amounts for purchased crude oil. These amounts were:

1984 - $2,375 million, 1983 - $1,970 million, and 1982 - $1,781 million.

Sales of petroleum products made under purchase/sale agreements entered into with other refiners to
minimize transportation costs have not been included in net sales and other operating revenues, but have been
applied to reduce the cost of the offsetting purchased products. Amounts for such petroleum product

sales were: 1984 - $668 million, 1983 - $648 million, and 1982 - $515 million.
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3. Gains (losses) and write downs relating to properties

Effective January 1, 1982, the Alberta Government exercised its option to convert the principal of the 8y, per
cent Syncrude loan into an equity interest in the Syncrude project. The conversion reduced the '
Corporation’s interest in the project from 13.4 per cent to 9.03 per cent. The disposition of this interest
resulted in a reduction in long-term debt of $119 million and a gain of $22 million before income

taxes ($14 million after taxes). The pre-tax gain is included in investment and other income.

On April 1, 1982, the Corporation sold a 49 per cent interest in its Port Moody refinery for $95 million. The
disposition resulted in a gain of $85 million before tax ($60 million after tax). The pre-tax gain is
included in investment and other income.

Expenses for 1983 include $35 million ($18 million after tax) relating to the costs of proposed modifications
and announced closures of certain refining operations and $5 million ($4 million after tax) relating
to the Corporation’s withdrawal from Pétromont in 1984.

Expenses for 1984 include $15 million ($8 million after tax) relating to the provision for impairment of
a coal property and $9 million ($5 million after tax) relating to the sale or closure of surplus downstream assets.

4. Payments to and from governments: (millions of dollars) 1984 1983 1982
Paid or currently payable to governments:
Income taxes $ 363 $ 186 $ 5173
Less: deferred income taxes (22) (71) (106)
341 115 67
Other taxes -federal sales tax 218 196 179
-petroleum and gas revenue tax 164 140 1130
-incremental oil revenue tax 13
-other 76 78 67
458 474 376
Taxes under the Energy Administration Act
-petroleum compensation charge 296 264 497
-Canadian ownership special charge 85 83 91
Petroleum and natural gas lease payments 80 64 41
Crown royalties, less incentive credits 315 327 314
1,575 1,267 1,386
Recovered or recoverable from governments:
Oil import compensation 48 26 145
Syncrude compensation 30 31 47
Petroleum incentive payments, deducted from:
property, plant and equipment 3 4 7
exploration expenses 54 46 35
Investment tax credits, deducted from:
property, plant and equipment 20 39 48
research and development expenditures 3 g 2
Other incentive payments 10 g9 16
168 158 300
Net payments $1,407 $1,109 $1,086
Collected for governments:
Gasoline, fuel, excise and export taxes $ 473 $ 494 $ 423

34



5. Income tax (millions of dollars)

Total income tax expense, as reflected in the statements of earnings, represents the effective tax rate which
differs from combined federal and provincial statutory tax rates. The main differences are shown in this table:

1984 1983 1982
Amount % Amount % Amount %
Provision for income taxes at statutory rates $327 49 $196 49 $186 50
Add (deduct) the tax effect of:
Inclusion in taxable income of crown royalties
and other provincial payments 158 24 155 38 140 37
Resource allowance to partially offset inclusion
of crown royalties (150) (22) (149) (37) (117) (31)
Inclusion in taxable income of petroleum
and gas revenue tax 76 11 69 17 5715
Exclusion of incremental oil revenue, net of
incremental oil revenue tax (12) (3)
Depletion allowance earned by exploration and
development expenditures (21) (3) (62) (16) (38) (10)
Non-taxable capital gains (2) (1) (22) (6)
Inventory allowance to partially offset the
effect of inflation (10) (2) (13) (3) (13) (4
Manufacturing and processing incentive 4 @) (1) (1)
Other (11) (2) (8] (2) (7) (2)
Provision for income taxes reflected in the
statements of earnings $363 54 $186 46 $173 46

Income taxes include deferred income taxes of $22 million in 1984, $71 million in 1983, and $106 million in
1982, These deferred income taxes relate primarily to the amount by which capital cost and other allowances
claimed for tax purposes exceed depreciation, depletion and amortization recorded in the accounts.

6. Accounts receivable (millions of dollars) 1984 1983
Customers $765 $694
Other receivables 166 180
931 874
Less allowance for doubtful accounts 12 14
$919 $860
7. Inventories [millions of dollars) 1984 1983
Crude oil and other source materials $157 $170
Refined products 544 462
Chemicals 16 16
$717 5648
8. Investments, long-term receivables and other assets [millions of dollars) 1984 1983
Investments in associated and other companies
At cost:
With quoted market value (based on closing prices at end of each year)
1984 - $88 million; 1983 - $85 million $ 15 $ 16
At equity:
Investment in joint venture companies, at cost plus equity in undistributed earnings 25 36
40 52
Long-term receivables 16 19
Deferred foreign exchange 67 31
Other i 17
$140 $119
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9. Property, plant and equipment (millions of dollars)

Accumulated

Range of ~ Gross  depreciation, Net Net
depreciation investment depletion and investment investment
rates at cost  amortization 1984 1983

Natural resources

Exploration and
production . (1) $1,736 $ 640 $1,096 $ 979
Syncrude project (1) 249 43 206 199
0il sands and coal (2) 70 18 52 68
Drilling system 6% 549 46 503 491
2,604 747 1,857 13737

Downstream

Transportation 4%-10% 53 27 26 27
Refining (3) 1,003 469 534 533
Marketing 2.5%-10% 627 326 301 302
Chemicals (3) 35 27 3 12
j 1,718 849 869 874
Capital leases (4) 30 10 20 26
Other 2.5%-10% 180 40 140 134
$4,532 $1,646 $2,886 $2,771

(1) Unit-of-production or group basis.
(2)Mineable oil sands properties on the group basis. Charges against earnings for the capitalized cost of coal
properties are dependent upon the results of evaluation and development. The cost of equipment
used in research and testing activities on these properties is depreciated over the life of the
related activities.
(3)Processing units on the unit-of-production basis; other items from 2.5 per cent to 10 per cent.
(4)Straight line from three to five years.

10. Material transactions with related parties
The Corporation has had transactions in the normal course of business, at commecial terms, with
Gulf Corporation (acquired by Chevron Corporation effective May 1, 1984) and its affiliates.

The more significant of these transactions were for the purchase and sale of crude oil, refined products and
petrochemicals; the receipt of technical and engineering services under research agreemenls; and hiring
ocean tank vessels. The aggregate net purchases by the Corporation in this connection, principally covering
crude oil and petroleum products, were (millions of dollars): 1984 - $132, 1983 - $110, 1982 - $104. In
addition, in 1982 the Corporation sold its joint venture uranium interests to an affiliate of Gulf Corporation.
The sale resulted in a reduction in property, plant and equipment of $2 million, and a gain of
$7 million before income taxes ($4 million after taxes).

In addition, the Corporation has had transactions with Pétromont, the more significant of which were for the
purchase and sale of refined products and petrochemicals. The aggregate revenues in this connection,
principally covering refined product sales, were (millions of dollars): 1984 - $12, 1983 - $83, 1982 - $149. The
aggregate purchases, principally covering petrochemicals, were (millions of dollars): 1984 - $8,

1983 - $37, 1982 - $39. The Corporation sold its interest in Pétromont as of March 30, 1984.

Included in accounts receivable and accounts payable are amounts receivable from, and owing to these
related parties of $1 million and $4 million, respectively, at December 31, 1984 and $10 million and
$3 million, respectively, at December 31, 1983.

Included in other current liabilities is an amount of $38 million representing proceeds from the sale of a
working interest in certain resource properties to the Gulf Canada Pension Fund. This amount will be
included in the Corporation’s revenues as production from these properties occurs. The working interest
will revert to the Corporation when the Fund has recovered its investment, plus the contracted
return thereon.
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11. Long-term debt (millions of dollars) 1984 1983

7%% Series E sinking fund debenture payable through 1988 $ 22 $23
8%% notes payable through 1997 (1) 150 148
15%% sinking fund debenture payable through 2011 (1) 264 249
15.35% notes payable through 1988 (1) 132 124
14%% notes due 1992 (1) 132 124
Notes payable through 1991 (2) 147 139
Capital lease obligations (3) 16 2
Other long-term obligations payable on varying dates 15 7
878 846

Less instalments due within one year included in current liabilities 24 13
$854 $833

(1) These are payable in U.S. dollars. The amounts outstanding in U.S. dollars at December 31, 1984 are: 8%%
notes - $113 million (1983 - $119 million), 15%% debenture - $200 million (1983 - $200 million),
15.35% notes - $100 million (1983 - $100 million), 14%% notes - $100 million (1983 - $100 million).
(2)Payable in Japanese Yen. The amounts outstanding at December 31, 1984 and 1983 are 26 billion Yen.
A concurrent deposit and loan agreement effectively converts the principal amount of the Yen
loan into U.S. dollars in the amount of U.S. $112 million. The aggregate interest cost under this arrangement
varies depending on the exchange rate of the Yen and the U.S. dollar. Through 1985 the
yen interest obligations have been hedged into U.S. dollars. The average interest rate for the year ended
December 31, 1984 was 15.26 per cent (1983 - 14.98 per cent).
(3)Capital lease terms vary from two to four years with interest rates averaging 13 per cent.
Approximate annual long-term debt instalments due in the next five years are (millions of dollars): 1985 - $24,
1986 - $66, 1987 - $79, 1988 - $119, 1989 - $33.
At December 31, 1984, the Corporation had lines of credit available in the amount of $390 million. These lines
are renewed annually on May 31, and any borrowings under these lines of credit would bear interest
at the prime rate.

12. Capital stock
Shares without nominal or par value
Authorized: Common - 250,000,000 without nominal or par value. Preferred - unlimited number without
nominal or par value. The preferred shares shall rank in priority to the common shares and may be issued
from time to time in series with the designation, rights, restrictions, conditions and limitations of each
series as may be fixed before their issuance by the directors, subject to approval by the shareholders.

Issued: Common - 227,487,030. Preferred - Nil.

13. Pension plans
The Corporation has pension plans covering substantially all employees. The contributions by employees,
together with those made by the Corporation, are deposited with insurance companies and/or trustees
according to the terms of the plan. Pensions at retirement are related to remuneration and years
of service.

The amounts charged to earnings (including amounts paid to government pension plans and the
amortization of prior service costs) were [(millions of dollars): 1984 - $40, 1983 - $48, 1982 - $52.

As of December 31, 1984, the actuarial present value of accumulated plan benefits using an actuarial
rate of return of seven per cent, was $596 million (Vested - $433 million; Non-vested - $163 million).

As of December 31, 1984, the actuary’s estimated value of the plan’s net assets available for benefits
amounted to $466 million (at market - $475 million).

The unamortized prior service costs at December 31, 1984, were approximately $153 million of which $130
million was unfunded. The unamortized prior service costs will be charged to earnings and the unfunded
amounts will be funded over periods up to 15 years.

14. Commitments, contingent liabilities and long-term obligations
The Corporation has commitments for the acquisition, construction or rental of properties and the purchase
of services, in the ordinary course of business which are not material in relation to net assets.

The Corporation does not have contingent liabilities or unconditional purchase obligations which are
material in relation to net assets.
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15. Cash flow information (millions of dollars) 1984 1983 1982

Earnings before non-cash items and exploration expenses

Earnings for the year $ 308 $ 218 g 201
Charges (credits) not affecting cash
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 263 207 175
Deferred income taxes 22 71 106
Gain on disposal of properties (4) (4) (132)
Other 26 24 16
: 615 516 366
Add exploration expenses 197 213 218
$ 812 $ 729 $ 584
Decrease in working capital, other than cash
Accounts receivable $ (59) $ (46) $ 16
Inventories (69) 160 6
Materials, supplies and prepaid expenses (10) 2 (11)
Accounts payable and other, excluding short-term loans 90 87
Income and other taxes payable 222 (5) 17
$ 174 $ 111 $ 115
16. Additional information to the consolidated statements of earnings (millions of dollars)
1984 1983 1982
Research and development $ 25 Bl 57 $ 47
Maintenance and repairs 148 129 145
Operating lease rentals 101 92 104

17. Reclassifications
Certain amounts for 1983 and 1982 have been reclassified to conform with the presentation adopted for 1984.

18. Other information
As the Corporation uses capital markets in the United States, the following information is presented in
conformity with United States accounting practices. The financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Canada which, in the case of the Corporation,
conform in all material respects with those in the United States except that:

(a) unrealized gains or losses arising on translation of long-term U.S. dollar liabilities are deferred and
amortized over the remaining term of the liabilities. In the United States such gains or losses would be
included in earnings in the period in which they arise;

(b)interest costs are expensed as incurred. In the United States, certain interest costs incurred on capital
outlays are required to be capitalized; and

(c) the disclosures of actuarial present values of accumulated plan benefits reported in note 13 take into account
the effect of future increases in employee compensation and an assumed rate of return of seven
per cent. To meet the disclosure requirements in the United States under Financial Accounting
Standards (FAS) No. 36, the effect of future increases in employee compensation are excluded and an
assumed rate of return of 8.6 per cent has been used. The following table compares the disclosure
required by FAS No. 36 to that given in note 13. The amounts shown in the table are based on the
estimates of independent actuaries:

As reported In accordance
in note 13 with FAS No. 36

Actuarial present values of accumulated plan benefits at Dec. 31, 1984 {millions of dollars)
Vested $433 $380
Non-vested 163 5
$596 $385
Net assets available for benefits at Dec. 31, 1984 $475 $469

If the Corporation had followed the principles in (a) and (b), the

consolidated earnings and earnings per share would have been: o anddadd Tlocember 31

1984 1983 1982
Earnings, as reported (millions of dollars) $ 308 $218 $ 201
Adjustments, net of applicable income taxes
-unrealized foreign exchange loss (25) (3) (14)
-interest capitalization 8 30 24
Earnings, as adjusted $ 291 $ 245 $ 211
Earnings per share, as adjusted $1.28 $1.08 $0.93
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Supplemental Oil and Gas Information (unaudited)

The following supplemental information on oil and gas activities conforms with the standards adopted by the
United States Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). It has been prepared using the guidelines developed
by the Financial Accounting Standards Board.

Year ended December 31

RESULTS OF OIL AND GAS OPERATIONS
(millions of dollars) 1984 1983 1982

Net revenues derived from proved oil and gas reserves
during the year -

Unaffiliated sales $ 833 $ 692 $598
Internal sales 420 441 311
1,253 1,133 909
Less: Production costs - lifting costs 154 154 142
-wellhead taxes 193 163 141
Exploration expenses™ 204 217 202
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 104 81 71
Other operating expenses (net) 47 64 51
Income taxes 321 228 172
Results of operations from producing activities 230 226 130
Mineable oil sands, minerals and other,
net of income taxes 32 26 26
General corporate expenses, net of income taxes (11) (10) (13)
Total natural resources (excluding interest costs) $ 251 $ 242 $143

COSTS INCURRED (millions of dollars)

Cost incurred (capitalized and expensed
during the year) for -

Property acquisition $ 76 $ 60 $ 36
Exploration* $ 278 $ 236 $187
Development $ 68 $ 101 $160
At December 31
CAPITALIZED COSTS [millions of dollars) 1984 1983
Proved properties $1,157 $1,086
Unproved properties 390 366
Support facilities 45 25
Drilling system 549 508
Incomplete wells and facilities 144 111
2,285 2,096
Less related accumulated depreciation,
depletion and amortization 686 626
Net capitalized costs $1,599 $1,470

*Includes depreciation on support facilities and on the drilling system.
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NET RESERVES OF CRUDE OIL AND NATURAL
GAS LIQUIDS AND NATURAL GAS

The reserve information set out below is based on
estimates made by Gulf Canada. In presenting this
data, the Corporation wishes to emphasize that
estimates, by their very nature, are inexact and
subject to continual changes and revisions. Estimates
of newly-discovered reserves are even more im-
precise than those of producing properties, and an
accurate determination of reserves at a given point in

Crude Oil and Natural Gas Liquids
(millions of cubic metres)] 1984 1983 1982

Net proved developed
and undeveloped

Net reserves on January 1 366 = 83.1 33.4

Additions from drilling 122 1.1 2.7
Revisions of previous

estimate 31 6.5 1.3
Added through improved

recovery 0.6
Production (a8) ((47) (43)
End of year 36103660331
Net proved developed
Beginning of year 363 328 329
End of year 351 860 a8

Natural Gas
(billions of cubic metres) 1984 1983 1982

Net proved developed
and undeveloped

Net reserves on January 1 509  50.2  48.8

Additions from drilling 14 2.4 1.0
Revisions of previous

estimate (0.9) 0.2 2.4
Production {25) 0 [1.9)8 = (20)
End of year 489 509 502
Net proved developed
Beginning of year 396 346 316
End of year 373 a3gi6 e 816G
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time may not be possible because of the time needed
for development drilling, testing and other studies of
the reservoirs. Accordingly, Gulf Canada believes
that these estimates will change as future
information becomes available.

Net reserves are estimated after deduction of
royalties which can vary depending on prices, pro-
duction volumes, and timing of initial production.
Due to the uncertainty of future royalty rates, the net
reserves have been calculated on the basis of average
royalty rates experienced.

The figures presented are believed to be reasonable
estimates of reserves which may be expected to be
recoverable commercially at current prices and costs
under existing regulatory practices and with existing
conventional equipment and operating methods.

All of Gulf Canada's erude oil and natural gas
reserves are located in Canada. Approximately 90
per cent of the proved crude oil reserves and 90 per
cent of the proved natural gas reserves are located in
the Province of Alberta.

Net reserves shown in the tables do not include
any reserves from the oil sands deposits known to
exist under leased acreage at Wabasca, Cold Lake
and Peace River, and the oil sands deposits in the
Athabasca area. Particularly, they do not include
permitted production of synthetic crude oil attribut-
able to Gulf Canada's 9.03 per cent interest in the
Syncrude project in the Athabasca oil sands which,
at December 31, 1984, was 13.0 million cubic metres.

These tables also do not include any discoveries in
the frontier areas, since either the technology re-
quired to commercially produce and transport
reserves is in the process of being developed, or else
commitment to, and government epprovals respect-
ing, a production system have not been reached or
obtained.

STANDARDIZED MEASURE OF DISCOUNTED
FUTURE NET CASH FLOWS RELATING TO
PROVED OIL AND GAS RESERVES
The standardized measure for calculating the present
value of future net cash flows from proved oil and
gas reserves is based on current costs and prices, and
a 10 per cent discount factor which are mandated.
Accordingly, Gulf Canada’s estimated future net
cash flows at December 31, 1984, 1983 and 1982,
were computed by applying the average selling price
(including internal sales) of oil ancl gas reserves
during the month of December of each respective
year, to the estimated future production of proved oil
and gas reserves at each year-end, less estimated
future expenditures (based upon the average of each
applicable year) to be incurred in developing and
producing proved reserves and assuming continua-
tion of existing economic eonditions at each year-end.
Although these calculations have been prepared in
accordance with the standards described above, it



should be emphasized that, due to the number of
assumptions and estimates required in the calcula-
tions, the amounts shown are not indicative of the
amount of net revenue which Gulf Canada expects,
or may expect, to receive in future periods. They are
also not indicative of the current value or future earn-
ings which may be realized from the production of
proved reserves.

It should also not be assumed that the estimates of
the standardized measure of future net cash flows
represent fair market value of the reserves or of the
oil and gas properties.

Although the calculations are based on existing
economic conditions at each year-end, such eco-
nomic conditions have changed, and may continue to
change significantly due to events such as the con-
tinuing changes in foreign crude oil availability and
prices, and changes in government policies and
regulations,

While the calculations are based on Gulf Canada's
understanding of the established guidelines, there
are numerous other equally valid assumptions under
which these estimates could be made which would
produce significantly different results.

Standardized Measure at December 31

(millions of dollars) 1984 1983 1982
Future cash inflow -

Sales and

transfers $11,557 $12,545 $10,578
Future development

costs (634) (589) (522)
Future production

costs (4,967) (6,511)  (4,493)

5,956 5,445 5,063

Future income taxes (3,446) (3,370) (3,579)
Future net

cash flows 2,510 2,075 1,984
10% annual

discount for

estimated timing

of cash flows (1,165) (779) (740)
Standardized

measure of

discounted net

cash flows $ 1,345 $ 1,296 $ 1,244

Changes in the Standardized Measure

During the Year

(millions of dollars) 1984 1983 1982
Sales and transfers

of oil and gas

produced, net of

production costs $ (906) $ (816) § (626)
Development costs

incurred during

the year 67 47 98
Extensions,

discoveries and

improved recovery,

less related costs 163 166 222
Revisions of previous

quantity and

timing estimates 316 513 247
Price and cost changes

-selling and

transfer prices (228) 717 709

-production costs 326 (773)* (464)

-development costs (63) (43) 63
Accretion of discount 314 304 254
Other 40 (13) 1
Change in income

taxes 20 (50) (327)
Net change 49 52 177
Balance at beginning

of year 1,296 1,244 1,067
Balance atendof year $ 1,345 § 1,296 § 1,244

*Includes $346 million for the cost of injection fluids.
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Supplemental Inflation Accounting Information (unaudited)

This supplemental inflation-adjusted financial
information and that relating to reserve quantities, as
well as certain exploration and development

costs included in the Supplemental Oil and Gas
Information (pages 39-41), has been recommended
by The Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants
(CICA). While the information on the effects of
changing prices was prepared using valid assump-
tions, equally valid alternative current cost
assumptions could produce materially different
results, so comparisons with disclosures of other
companies therefore may not be meaningful.

The current cost earnings table indicates that
reported historical cost earnings of $308 million
becomes an estimated $11 million loss when
adjusted for the effects of inflation. This difference
can be attributed to several factors:
® Replacement of inventories at the time of sale in

1984, at an estimated additional cost of $35

million, results in a current cost for purchased

crude oil, products and merchandise of

$2,608 million.
® Depreciation, depletion and amortization would

increase by $284 million, based on estimated
current costs of the Corporation’s productive
assets (plant and equipment, and oil and gas
properties). These current costs were estimated by
applying a variety of specific indices to
historical carrying values, and by assuming dup-
lication of existing assets in the same locations.
Consideration was not given to possible benefits
from replacing assets with different types, or
to possible operating cost efficiencies with
replacement assets. These current cost estimates
do not represent appraised values or market
selling prices for the assets, nor the cost of, or
manner by which these assets may eventually be
replaced. It is worth noting that, in most instances,
oil and gas reserves can only be replaced at much
higher costs.

Although current cost earnings for 1984, before
income taxes, are much lower than the reported
historical amount, no adjustment was made to
income tax expense reported in the historical cost
financial statements. On this basis, the Corporation's
overall effective tax rate increases dramatically.

During inflationary periods, monetary assets lose
purchasing power. However, monetary obliga-
tions are easier to meet. In 1984, Gulf Canada’s mone-
tary obligations exceeded its cash, short-term
investments and accounts receivable, but the
purchasing power required to repay the net amounts
owed declined by $15 million ($21 million in 1983).

The CICA recommends disclosure of a financing
adjustment, calculated as the proportion of current
cost increases which are theoretically financed
by debt-holders, based on the Corporation’s debt-to-
equity ratio. The portion of the change in the current
costs of inventory and property, plant and equip-
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ment which could be attributed to debt-holders
under this concept during 1984, is $22 million ($35
million in 1983). The financing adjustment, based on
current cost adjustments to purchase crude oil,
products and merchandise, plus depreciation, deple-
tion and amortization, is $26 million for 1984

($26 million in 1983).

As reported in

the historical Current
statements cost basis
[millions of dollars) 1984 1984 1983*
EARNINGS
Net revenues $5,422 $5422 $5,387
Purchased crude oil,
products and
merchandise 2,573 2,608 2,814
Operating and other
expenses 1,915 1,915 1,982
Depreciation,
depletion and
amortization 263 547 462
4,751 5,070 5,258
Earnings before
income taxes 671 352 129
Income taxes
-current 341 341 115
-deferred 22 22 71
363 363 186
Earnings (loss) $ 308 $ (11) $ (57)

BALANCE SHEET
ITEMS

Inventory

Property, plant and
equipment - net

Net assets (common
shareholders’

equity)

SesizeSivl7. . $ 672

$2,886 $5,193 5,328

$2,538 %4845 $4,885

OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
Increase in specific prices

(current cost) of

inventories and property,

plant and equipment held

during the year $ 262 $ 398
Effect of general inflation 216 263

Excess of increase in
specific prices over the
effect of general
inflation SHdes % 135

*The 1983 comparative amounts have been restated
to 1984 dollars to reflect the increase in general
price levels.



Quarterly Summaries (unaudited)

QUARTERLY SUMMARY 1984 1 2 3 4

Financial (millions of dollars)

Net revenue 1,335 1,301 1,365 1,421

Net earnings 73 69 87 79
Per common share (dollars per share) 0.32 0.30 0.38 0.35

Shareholders’ statistics (dollars per share)

Equity per share - book value 10.51 10.69 10.94 11.16

Market value per share:
Toronto Stock Exchange

-High 20 195, 209, 199,
Low 16% 169 143 15,
-Close 18% 167, 199, 15%
American Stock Exchange (U.S.$)
-High 16 15% 15 15
-Low 13% 12% 107 11
Close 149, 129, 15, 114,
Dividends declared (millions of dollars) (1) 25 30 30 29
Per common share (dollars per share) 0.11 0.13 0.13 0.13
Price/earnings ratio at quarter-end (2) 14 14 13 11
Shareholders at quarter-end [thousands) 37.1 36.1 35.2 34.0
Shares traded (millions) (3)
-Toronto Stock Exchange 6.9 43 vl 4.3
-American Stock Exchange 8.3 6.2 7.0 5.0
QUARTERLY SUMMARY 1983 il 2 3 4
Financial (millions of dollars)
Net revenue 1,156 1,218 1,387 1,402
Net earnings 68 5% 50 43
Per common share (dollars per share) 0.30 0.25 0.22 0.19
Shareholders’ statistics (dollars per share)
Equity per share - book value 9.97 10.11 10.22 10.30

Market value per share:
Toronto Stock Exchange

-High 175 18% 21y 185,
Low 128 137 173 161
-Close 14 18 19 17%
American Stock Exchange (U.S.$)
-High 14y, 15% 17y, 15%
-Low 109, 113 14 13
-Close 113 149, 15% 137,
Dividends declared (millions of dollars) (1) 25 25 25 25
Per common share (dollars per share) 0.11 0.11 0.11 0.11
Price/earnings ratio at quarter-end (2) 12 17 18 18
Shareholders at quater-end (thousands) 41.1 39.0 375 36.8
Shares traded (millions) (3)
-Toronto Stock Exchange 6.9 6.6 5.6 37
-American Stock Exchange 3.3 2.5 25 1.6

(1) Dividends paid on common shares owned by non-residents of Canada are generally subject to a 25 per cent
Canadian withholding tax. However, for recipients to whom the existing tax treaty between the
United States and Canada is applicable, the rate is 15 per cent.

(2) Closing TSE share price divided by annualized earnings.

(3) The outstanding common shares of the Corporation are listed on the Toronto, Montreal, Vancouver and
Alberta stock exchanges, and are admitted to unlisted trading privileges on the American Stock Exchange.
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Five Year Financial Summary

STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS

(millions of dollars} 1984 1983 1982 1981 1980
Revenues
Natural gas $ 349 $ 289 $ 298 $ 293 $ 307
Crude oil and natural gas liquids 805 772 625 508 416
Refined products

-gasoline 1,615 1,577 1,399 1,395 1,051

-middle distillates 1,191 1,152 1.078 978 763

-Oth'er 761 811 839 899 631
Chemicals 186 176 193 209 269
Other operating revenues 409 301 250 314 306
Net sales and other operating revenues 5,316 5,078 4,682 4,596 3,743
Investment and other income 106 85 245 114 100
Net revenues 5,422 5,163 4927 4,710 3,843
Expenses
Purchases 2,573 2,689 2,555 2,299 1,716
Operating and other expenses 1,337 1,335 1,339 1,302 1,119
Taxes other than income taxes 458 414 376 296 171
Income taxes 363 186 173 301 290
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 263 207 175 162 141
Interest on long-term debt 120 114 108 51 26
Total expenses 5,114 4,945 4,726 4,411 3,463
Earnings for the year (1) $ 308 $ 218 $ 201 $ 299 $ 380
Per share (dollars)
Earnings $ 135 $ 0.96 $ 0.88 i Akl $ 1.67
Dividends declared $ 0.50 $ 044 $ 0.44 $ 044 $ 041
Year-end closing market value - TSE 159 179, 143, 18%, 233,
Common shares outstanding at year-end

(millions) 227 227 227 227 227

(1) Variances between accounting principles generally accepted in Canada and the United States, as they
apply to the Corporation, for the three years ended December 31, 1984, are described in Note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements on page 38. These variances did not have a significant effect on earnings
for the two years ended December 31, 1981.

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION '
(millions of dollars) 1984 1983 1982 1981 1980

Current assets $2,609 $2,222 $2,328 $2,258 $1,826
Current liabilities 1,366 1,054 1,079 980 936
Working capital 1,243 1,168 1,249 1,278 890
Investments and other assets 140 119 118 105 99
Net property, plant and equipment 2,886 2,771 2,469 2,105 1,767
Capital employed 4,269 4,058 3,836 3,488 2,756
Deferred gas production revenue 159 185 172 93 72
Long-term debt 854 833 813 751 315
Deferred income taxes 718 696 625 519 443
Shareholders’ equity (net assets) $2,538 $2,344 $2,226 $2,125 $1,926
Total assets $5,635 $5,112 $4,915 $4,468 $3,692
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (millions of dollars) 1984 1983 1982 1981 1980

Cash from operations
Earnings before non-cash items and exploration expenses $812 $729 $584 $784 $786

Decrease (increase) in working capital other than cash 174 111 115 (245) (116)
Deferred gas production revenue (26) 13 79 21 35
Other (net) 2 7 6 5 7
962 860 784 565 74
Cash used for investment
Total investment 603 748 878 783 581
Sales of properties and investments (30) (7) (124) (20) (56)
573 741 754 763 525
Dividends on common stock 114 100 100 100 93
Financing
Additions to long-term debt 5 25 166 450
Reductions in long-term debt (31) (14) (10) (9) (18)
(26) 11 156 441 (18)
Increase in cash and short-term investments
less short-term loans $249 $ 30 $ 86 $143 $ 76
FINANCIAL RATIOS 1984 1983 1982 1981 1980 1979 1978 1977 1976 1975
Return on capital employed (1) 9.0% 7.0% 7.0% 104% 15.3% 13.3% 9.9% 11.4% 11.9% 14.5%
Return on shareholders’ equity (2) 12.6% 9.5% 9.2% 14.8% 21.3% 18.8% 13.8% 15.1% 15.3% 18.3%
Current ratio (3) 1.9 2.1 2.2 2.3 2.0 1.8 1.8 1.8 1.9 2.1
Long-term debt to total
capitalizatinn (4) 25.2% 26.2% 26.7% 26.1% 14.1% 16.9% 19.8% 20.6% 12.7% 10.1%
Earnings coverage of interest (5) 7X 5x 4 13x 27x 18k | TZxE e ihxe R3S b
Reinvestment ratio (6) 53% 87% 131% 131% 89% 82% 92% 118% 90% 128%
Definitions

(1) Return on capital employed: Net after-tax earnings plus after-tax interest expense as a percentage of
average capital employed for the year. Capital employed is calculated by deducting current liabilities
from total assets. :

(2) Return on shareholders’ equity: Net after-tax earnings as a percentage of average shareholders’ equity for
the year. Shareholders' equity is composed of the book value of common shares.

(3) Current ratio: Ratio of total current assets to total current liabilities.

(4) Long-term debt to total capitalization: Long-term debt as a percentage of long-term debt and shareholders’
equity.

(5) Earnings coverage of interest: Pre-tax earnings and pre-tax interest expense as a multiple of pre-tax
interest expense.

(6) Reinvestment ratio: Total investment and the increase or decrease in working capital other
than cash as a percentage of earnings before non-cash items and exploration expenses.
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Five Year Operations Review

1984 1983 1982 1981 1980
Gross/Net Gross/Net Gross/Net Gross/Net  Gross/Net
Production (thousands of cubic metres per day)
Crude oil and natural gas liquids 17.8/13.2 17.2/12.8 12.0/12:1 18.0/12.2 20.6/13.8
Synthetic crude oil 1.2/ 11 156/ 1.3 2D 1524 115 1.5
[millions of cubic metres per day)
Natural gas 8.8/ 6.8 7.4/ 5.2 7:8/-5.6 8.4/ 6.0 8.9/ 6.3
Wells drilled (1)
Exploratory
-0il 147/ 94 141/ 90 104/ 56 126/ 64 79/ 41
-Gas 33/ 18 49/ 25 54/ 27 a2/+20 48/ 27
-Dry 184/ 119 109/ 72 156/ 78 188/ 98 103/ 55
Development
-0il 188/ 45 761123 31/ 13 14/ 4 96/ 36
-Gas 5/ 2 4/ 1 4 =] i/ 2 14/ 1
-Dry 4/ 1 1 4/ 4 (12 i
Total 561/ 279 379/ 211 359/ 180 394/ 192 354/ 167

Wells (bore holes) capable of
producing at year-end (1)

7,368/1,981

7,099/1,883 6,833/1,746 6,804/1,727

6,649/1,631

(1) In accordance with regulations issued by the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.

1984 1983 1982 1981 1980
Crude oil processed (thousands of cubic metres per day)
Point Tupper, Nova Scotia 2.9
Montreal East, Quebec 9.2 9.0 8.8 10.4 10.3
Clarkson, Ontario 8.5 8.1 7.8 10.2 10.8
Moose Jaw, Saskatchewan 0.8 0.5 0.4 0.5 0.5
Calgary, Alberta 11 153 1.6 0.9
Edmonton, Alberta 14.3 113 10.4 11.8 12.5
Kamloops, British Columbia 0.4 1.3 1th 15
Port Moody, British Columbia 2.9 2.8 Bhia 5.8 6.1
Total 35.7 33.2 33.5 41.8 45.5
Per cent of daily refinery
capacity utilized 79% 75% 73% 89% 88%
Sales volumes (cubic metres per day)
Natural gas (millions) 9.0 7.8 8.1 8.6 9.3
Crude oil (thousands) 5.9 5.4 4.8 4.7 4.5
Natural gas liquids (thousands) 3.3 4.2 4.6 4.8 4.8
Refined Products (thousands of cubic metres per day)
-gasolines 12.6 1352 19,4 14.5 5.7
-middle distillates 11.0 11.0 10.5 11.1 12.2
-other 6.4 7.6 8.8 10.6 10.1
Chemicals (millions of kilograms per day)
-petrochemicals 0.6 0.7 0.7 0.6 1.3
-sulphur 1.7 IR 1.4 1.2 1.0
-other 0.9 0.7 0.7
Retail outlets at year-end 2,516 2,487 2,491 2,589 25716
Employees at year-end 8,982 9,714 10,179 11,367 10,914
Total wages and salaries (millions) $ 371 $ 366 $ 363 Fitl 1332 BN 275
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Directors
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Ontario. Director: Brascan Limited;
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Corporation Limited; Canadian Imperial
Bank of Commerce; MacMillan Bloedel
Limited; Ford Motor Company of Canada,
Limited; Brenda Mines Limited; Placer
Development Limited; Sears Canada Inc,;
Sun Life Assurance Company of Canada;
Kerr Addison Mines Limited.

Kathleen M. Richardson (1977) [4]
Director, James Richardson & Sons
Limited, Winnipeg, Manitoba. Director:
Barclays Bank of Canada; Sun Life
Assurance Company of Canada.

R.T. Savage (1984)

Vice-President, Chevron Corporation,
San Francisco, California. Director;: UNC
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C.D. Shepard (1960) [4,5]
Ottawa, Ontario

L.C. Soileau Il (1984)
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Corporation.
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President and Chief Executive Officer,
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[4] Member Pension Fund Investment
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[5] Member Nominating Committee

47



Corporate Information

GULF CANADA LIMITED
130 Adelaide St. W.,
Toronto, Ontario

Directors

].D. Allan, Toronlo

M.N. Anderson, Vancouver

E.H. Crawford, Toronto

E.F. Crease, Halifax

|.E. Lee, Pittsburgh, PA.

Dr. D.S.R. Leighton, Canmore, Alta.
S.K. McWalter, Toronto

J.C. Phillips, Q.C., Toronto
Gérard Plourde, O.C., Montreal
Alfred Powis, O.C..Taronto
Kathleen M. Richardson, Winnipeg
R.T. Savage, San Francisco, CA.
C.D. Shepard, Q.C., Ottawa

L..C. Soileau III, Rayne, LA.

|.L. Stoik, Toronto

W.H. Young, Hamilton

Secretary
W.M. Winterton

Director Emeritus
Beverley Matthews, C.B.E., Q.C,,
Toronto

Officers

J.L. Stoik, President and Chief
Executive Officer

[.C. Phillips, Q.C., Chairman of
the Board

S.K. McWalter, Executive Vice-
President
[Appointed September 1984)

M. Bregazzi, Vice-President,
Planning and Development

E.E. Walker, Vice-Presidenl,
Administration

W.M. Winterton, Vice-President,
General Counsel and Corporate
Secretary

A.R. Sello, Controller

J.R. Tysall, Treasurer

Accounting and Data Processing
Centres

Toronto, Ontario

Calgary, Alberta

Rescarch and Development Centre
Sheridan Park, Ontario

Principal Subsidiaries/Divisions
(Whaolly-owned unless otherwise indicated)

The Tensar Corporation
(50 per cent)
1210 Citizens Parkway
P.O. Box 986
Morrow, Georgia, 30260
D.G. Fehrman, President and
Chief Execulive Officer

48

Gulf Canada Products Company
(A division of Gulf Canada Limited)
800 Bay Street,

Toronto, Ontario

Officers

R.T. Brown, President

W.]. Hindson, Vice-President,
Crude and Products Supply

I'. Matsushita, Vice-Presidenl,
Marketing, Logistics and Sales

K.C. Reeves, Vice-President,
Manufacturing

T"B. Simms, Vice-President,
Planning and Control
(Appointed August 1984)

W.R. Prueter, Secretary

Marketing Region Offices
Toronto, Ontario
Calgary, Alberta

(){Jemted Pipelines
Alberta Products
Fort Saskatchewan
Gulf Alberta

Gulf Saskatchewan
Rimbey

Saskatoon

Valley

Refineries

Montreal East, Quebec
Clarkson, Ontario

Edmonton, Alberta

Port Moody, B.C. (51 per cent)

Asphalt Plant
Moose Jaw, Saskatchewan

Gulf Canada Refinery Ltd.
3501 Broadway St.,
Montreal-East, Quebec,
K.C. Reeves, President

Servico Limited

2020 University St.,
24th floor,

Montreal, Queber,

T. Matsushita, President

Superior Propane Limited

8474 Keele St.,

Concord, Ontario,

].D. DeGrandis, President,
Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Olficer

Gulf Canada Resources Inc.
Gulf Canada Square

401 - 9th Avenue S.W.
Calgary, Alberta

Officers

R.H. Carlyle, President
(Appointed September 1984)

C.K. Caldwell, Vice-President,
Exploration

L.GG. Dodd, Vice-President,
Finance and Planning, and
Treasurer
(Appointed August 1984)

.R. Motvka, Vice-President,
Frontier

W.G. Russell, Vice-President,
Production and Development

G.A. Holland, Secretary

Exploration/Production Offices
Calgary, Alberta

Edmonton, Alberta

Stettler, Alberta

Battleford, Saskatchewan
Estevan, Saskatchewan

Mujor Operated Gas Plunts —
Alberta

Hanlan-Robb

Morrin-Ghost Pine

Nevis

Rimbey

Strachan

BeauDril Limited

Gulf Canada Square
401 - 9th Avenue S.W.
Calgary, Alberta

R.H. Carlyle, President

Principal Investments not Consolidated

Company

Alberta Products Pipe Line Ltd.

Canada Systems Group Limited
Interprovincial Pipe Line Limited

Montreal Pipe Line Company Limited

Peace Pipe Line Ltd.
Rimbey Pipe Line Co. Ltd.
Trans-Northern Pipelines Inc.

Percentage
Ownership

40.00
25.00

6.46
16.00
12.70
40.40
33.33
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Shareholder Information

Annual Meeting

The annual meeting of share-
holders will be held in the Royal
York Hotel, Toronto, Ontario, at
2:00 p.m. EST, Thursday,

April 25, 1985.

Rapport annuel

Le présent rapport annuel est
disponible en frangais. Pour en
obtenir un exemplaire, veuillez
vous addresser a l'adresse
suivanle:

Secteur des communications
financiéres,

Service des Affaires publiques,

Gulf Canada Limitée,

130, rue Adelaide ouest,

Toronto (Ontario) M5H 3R6

Auditors

Clarkson Gordon
Chartered Accountants,
P.O. Box 251,
Toronto-Dominion Centre,
Toronto, Ontario, M5K 1]7

Common Stock

Gulf Canada has a total of
227,487,030 issued common
shares, of which approximately 60
per cent are beneficially owned by
Chevron Corporation, San
Francisco, California.

Gulf Canada's common shares
are listed and traded on the
Toronto, Montreal, Vancouver
and Alberta stock exchanges in
Canada, and traded on the
American Stock Exchange, where
the Corporation has unlisted
trading privileges.

The stock market symbol is
GOC.

Share Register

Changes of address or inquiries
regarding shares or dividends
should be directed to:

Share Register Department,
Gulf Canada Limited,

477 Mount Pleasant Rd.,
Toronto, Ontario, M4S 2M1

Registrar

Canada Permanent Trust
Company,

20 Eglinton Ave. W,

Toronto, Ontario, M4R 2E2

Transfer Agents

Canada Permanent Trust
Company: Vancouver, Calgary,
Regina, Winnipeg, Toronto,
Montreal, Saint John, N.B.,
Charlottetown, Halifax, St. John's,
Newfoundland.

Registrar and Transfer Company,
10 Commerce Drive,

Cranford, New Jersey,

U.S.A. 07106

Dividend Payment

Quarterly dividend cheques are
mailed out a few days prior to the
payable dates, whicﬁ are the first
of January, April, July and
October. The quarterfy dividend
was 11 cents per share for the
first quarter of 1984, and 13 cents
per share for the remaining

three quarters.

10K Report Available

A copy of the 1984 Report on
Form 10K, as filed with the
United States Securities and
Exchange Commission, is avail-

able on request from:

Gulf Canada Limited,
Public Affairs Department,
130 Adelaide St. W.,
Toronto, Ontario, M5H 3R6

Additional Information

Further information about Gulf
Canada Limited is available from
the following offices:

Gulf Canada Limited,
Public Affairs Department,
130 Adelaide St. W.,
Toronto, Ontario, M5H 3R6
(Telephone: 416-869-8600)

Gulf Canada Products Company,
Public Affairs Department,

P.O. Box 460, Station A,
Toronto, Ontario, M5W 1E5
(Telephone: 416-927-2500)

Gulf Canada Resources Inc.,
Public Affairs Department,
Gulf Canada Square,

P.0O. Box 130, Station M,
Calgary, Alberta, T2P 2H7
(Telephone: 403-233-4000)

Metric Measure: Adoption of Metric

In 1979, the Canadian petroleum industry began using the International
System of Units, commonly called the metric system, to report
figures related to length, area, volume and mass. All figures in the graphs
and tables in this Annual Report are in metric measure.

Table of Basic Conversion Factors*

Traditional to meltric

Length
1 mile = 1.609 kilometres (km)
1 foot = 0.305 metre (m)

Area
1 acre = 0.405 hectare (ha)

Volume

1 gallon (Can.) = 4.546 litres (L)

1 barrel = 0.159 cubic metre (m?)

1 MCF = 28.174 cubic metres (m?)
(natural gas)

Mass

1 pound = 0.454 kilogram (kg)

1 long ton = 1.016 tonnes (t)
(2,240 pounds)

1 short ton = 0.907 tonne (t)
(2,000 pounds)

Melric to traditional

1 km = 0.621 mile
1 m = 3.281 feet

1 ha = 2.471 acres

1 L =0.220 gallon (Can.)
1 m® = 6.290 barrels
1 m* = 0.035 MCF

1 kg = 2.205 pounds
1t =0.984 long ton

11 =1.102 short tons

*International System of Units (SI) conversion factors used by the
Canadian Petroleum Association in its statistical handbook effective

January 1, 1979.









